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Incorporation by Reference

The registrant hereby incorporates Exhibit 1 to this report on Form 6-K by reference (i) in the prospectus that is part of the Registration
Statement on Form F-3 (Registration No. 333-191250) of the registrant and Nomura America Finance, LLC, filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission ( SEC ) on September 19, 2013 and (ii) in the prospectus that is part of the Registration Statement on Form F-3
(Registration No. 333-186755) of the registrant, filed with the SEC on February 20, 2013.

Information furnished on this form:

EXHIBITS
Exhibit Number
1. Nomura Holdings. Inc. Interim Operating and Financial Review
15. Acknowledgment Letter of Ernst & Young ShinNihon LL.C
101.INS XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

NOMURA HOLDINGS, INC.
Date: December 19, 2014 By: /s/ Hajime Ikeda

Hajime Ikeda
Managing Director
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Exhibit 1
NOMURA HOLDINGS, INC.
INTERIM OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
TABLE OF CONTENTS
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Ended September 30. 2013 and 2014 F-7
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity for the Six Months Ended September 30, 2013 and 2014 F-8
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Six Months Ended September 30. 2013 and 2014 F-9
Notes to the Interim Consolidated Financial Statements F-10
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-89

Presentation of Financial and Other Information

As used in this Form 6-K, references to the Company , Nomura , Nomura Group , we , us and our areto Nomura Holdings, Inc. and, except
context otherwise requires, its consolidated subsidiaries. As part of certain line items in Nomura s financial statements and information included
in this Form 6-K, references to NHI are to Nomura Holdings, Inc.

Unless otherwise stated, references in this Form 6-Kto yen and ¥ are to the lawful currency of Japan and references to U.S. dollars and $ are to
the lawful currency of the United States of America ( U.S. ).

All ownership data with respect to us presented in this Form 6-K is presented based on the voting interest directly or indirectly held by us. Our
voting interest is presented in accordance with Japanese reporting requirements, pursuant to which the amount presented with respect to each
subsidiary is the percentage of voting rights of such subsidiary held directly by us or our subsidiaries. For example, wholly-owned subsidiaries
of our subsidiaries are listed as 100%, regardless of the level of our direct interest in the intermediate subsidiaries.

Amounts shown within this Form 6-K have been rounded to the nearest indicated digit unless otherwise specified. In tables and graphs with
rounded figures, sums may not add up due to rounding.

Except as otherwise indicated, all financial information with respect to us presented in this Form 6-K is presented on a consolidated basis. Our
fiscal year ends on March 31 of each year. We prepare interim consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles ( U.S. GAAP ). Our interim consolidated financial statements, including the notes thereto, for the six months ended
September 30, 2013 and 2014 are included elsewhere in this Form 6-K. The interim consolidated financial statements included in this Form 6-K
have been reviewed in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) by our independent
auditors.
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Recent Developments in Capital Adequacy Regulations. In December 2010, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision ( Basel Committee )
issued the overall reform package on capital adequacy ratio, liquidity and leverage ratio from Basel II ( Basel III ) in order to promote a more
resilient banking sector. The Basel Committee has been reviewing the Basel III package and has published various proposals. After the
implementation of the Capital Adequacy Notice on Final Designated Parent Company revised to be in line with Basel III, the Financial Services
Agency of Japan ( FSA ) has been considering further revisions, taking the series of proposals published by the Basel Committee. In addition to
Basel 111, implementation of new regulations or strengthening of existing regulations have been determined or are under consideration by

internal organizations such as the G-20, Financial Stability Board ( FSB ), International Organization of Securities Commissions ( IOSCO ) and
Basel Committee, or governmental and self-regulatory organizations in Japan and in virtually all other jurisdictions in which we operate. The

FSB and the Basel Committee at the Group of Twenty ( G-20 ) summit in November 2011 identified global systemically important bank ( G-SIBs )
on which additional capital requirements will be imposed and update the list of G-SIBs in November of each year. We were not designated as a
G-SIB in November 2013 or November 2014. The Basel Committee published updated assessment methodology and the higher loss absorbency
requirement on G-SIBs, as well as disclosure requirements on G-SIBs evaluation indices, and such disclosure requirements were made effect by
the FSA on March 2014. Also, the Basel Committee developed and published a set of principles on the assessment methodology and the higher
loss absorbency requirement for domestic systemically important banks ( D-SIBs ), extending the framework for G-SIBs to D-SIBs. In addition,
the FSB and the IOSCO have published assessment methodologies for identifying Non-bank Non-insurer Global Systemically Important

Financial Institutions ( NBNI G-SIFIs ), for public consultation.

U.S. Regulatory Changes. In response to the financial markets crisis, governments and regulatory authorities in various jurisdictions have made
and continue to make numerous proposals to reform the regulatory framework for, or impose a tax or levy upon, the financial services industry

to enhance its resilience against future crises, contribute to the relevant economy generally or for other purposes. In July 2010, the U.S. enacted
the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the Dodd-Frank Act ) which is now the subject of a multi-agency rulemaking
process. The rulemakings include provisions that (i) create a tighter regulatory framework for OTC derivatives to promote transparency and
impose conduct rules in that marketplace; (ii) establish a process for designating nonbank financial firms as Systemically Important Financial
Institutions ( SIFIs ), subject to increased (and sometimes new) prudential oversight including early remediation, capital standards, resolution
authority and new regulatory fees; (iii) prohibit material conflicts of interest between firms that package and sell asset-backed securities ( ABS )
and firms that invest in ABS; (iv) establish risk retention requirements for ABS; and (v) a number of executive compensation mandates,
including rules to curtail incentive compensation that promotes excessive risk taking. The new regulatory framework for OTC derivatives
includes mandates for clearing transactions with designated clearing organizations, exchange trading, new capital requirements, bilateral and
variation margin for non-cleared derivatives, reporting and recordkeeping, and internal and external business conduct rules. Some U.S.
derivatives rules may be applied extraterritorially and therefore impact some non-U.S. Nomura entities.

Other aspects of the Dodd-Frank Act and related rulemakings include provisions that (i) prohibit deposit-taking banks and their affiliates from
engaging in proprietary trading and limit their ability to make investments in hedge funds and private equity funds (the so-called Volcker Rule );
(ii) empower regulators to liquidate failing nonbank financial companies that are systemically important; (iii) provide for new systemic risk
oversight and increased capital requirements for both bank and non-bank SIFIs; (iv) provide for a broader regulatory oversight of hedge funds;
and (v) new regulations regarding the role of credit rating agencies, investment advisors and others. To facilitate the transition to the

requirements of the Dodd-Frank Act, the Commodity Futures Trading Commission issued an exemptive order in July 2013 (the Exemptive
Order ) that granted market participants temporary conditional relief from certain provisions of the Commodity Exchange Act, as amended by the
Dodd-Frank Act. As the Exemptive Order expired on December 21, 2013, some U.S. derivatives rules are now being applied extraterritorially

and are now therefore impacting some non-U.S. Nomura entities. In addition, Title VII of the Dodd-Frank Act gives the SEC regulatory

authority over security-based swaps which are defined under the act as swaps based on a single security or loan or a narrow-based group or
index of securities. Security-based swaps are included within the definition of security under the U.S. Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 and
the U.S. Securities Act of 1933. On May 1, 2013, the SEC proposed rules and interpretive guidance addressing cross-border security-based swap
activities. Once final, these rules will also be applied extraterritorially and impact some non-U.S. Nomura entities. The exact details of the
Dodd-Frank Act implementation and ultimate impact on Nomura s operations will depend on the form and substance of the final regulations
adopted by various governmental agencies and oversight boards. In addition to the rulemakings required by the Dodd-Frank Act, the SEC is
considering other rulemakings that will impact Nomura s U.S. entities. While these rules have not been formally proposed, they have been
publicly reported in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget s (OMB) Current Regulatory Plan and Unified Agenda of Regulatory and
Deregulatory Actions. The SEC s Division of Trading and Markets is considering recommending that the SEC propose an amendment to its net
capital rule that would prohibit a broker-dealer that carries customer accounts from having a ratio of total assets to regulatory capital in excess of
a certain level. The Division of Trading and Markets is also considering a number of changes to equity market structure rules.
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Risk Factors

There is no significant change from the risks as previously disclosed in Part I, Item 3.D Risk Factors of our annual report on Form 20-F for the
year ended March 31, 2014.
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Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains forward-looking statements that are based on our current expectations, assumptions, estimates and projections about our

business, our industry and capital markets around the world. These forward-looking statements are subject to various risks and uncertainties.

Generally, these forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as may , will , expect , anticipate ,
estimate , plan or similar words. These statements discuss future expectations, identify strategies, contain projections of our results of operations

or financial condition, or state other forward-looking information.

Known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors may cause our actual results, performance, achievements or financial position to

differ materially from any future results, performance, achievements or financial position expressed or implied by any forward-looking
statements contained in this report. Such risks, uncertainties and other factors are set forth in Risk Factors above and in Item 3.D of our annual
report on Form 20-F for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014, as well as elsewhere in this Form 6-K.
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Operating and Financial Review and Prospects
Results of Operations Six Months Ended September 30, 2013 and 2014

The interim consolidated financial statements included in this Form 6-K have not been audited but have been reviewed in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) by our independent auditors. The unaudited interim consolidated
financial statements are prepared on a basis substantially consistent with the audited consolidated financial statements included in our Form 20-F
for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014 filed on June 26, 2014.

Overview

The following table provides selected consolidated statements of income information for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2014.

Millions of yen
except percentages
Six months ended September 30

2013 2014

Non-interest revenues:

Commissions ¥ 263,247 ¥ 208,413
Fees from investment banking 48,378 40,442
Asset management and portfolio service fees 83,083 93,839
Net gain on trading 238,589 287,573
Gain on private equity investments 753 202
Gain on investments in equity securities 12,889 9,234
Other 73,294 59,579
Total non-interest revenues 720,233 699,282
Net interest revenue 67,478 45,389
Net revenue 787,711 744,671
Non-interest expenses 601,559 618,992
Income before income taxes 186,152 125,679
Income tax expense 81,505 51,291
Net income 104,647 74,388
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 641 1,656
Net income attributable to NHI shareholders ¥ 104,006 ¥ 72,732
Return on shareholders equity (annualizedy 8.9% 5.7%

(1) Calculated as Net income attributable to NHI shareholders divided by average Total NHI shareholders equity multiplied by two.

Net revenue decreased by 5.5% from ¥787,711 million for the six months ended September 30, 2013 to ¥744,671 million for the six months
ended September 30, 2014. Commissions decreased by 20.8%, primarily due to decreasing commissions received from equity and equity-related
products and commissions from the distributions of investment trust certificates. Asset management and portfolio service fees increased by
12.9%, primarily due to an increase in assets under management driven by contribution of the new subsidiary company. Net gain on trading
increased by 20.5%, primarily due to an increase in the results of debt trading. Other revenue decreased by 18.7%, primarily due to decreasing
unrealized gains of the equity securities held for non-trading purposes.
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Net interest revenue was ¥67,478 million for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and ¥45,389 million for the six months ended
September 30, 2014. Net interest revenue is a function of the level and the mix of total assets and liabilities, which includes trading assets and
financing and lending transactions, and the level, term structure and volatility of interest rates. Net interest revenue is an integral component of

our trading business. In assessing the profitability of our overall business and of our Wholesale operation in particular, we view Net interest
revenue and Non-interest revenues in aggregate.
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Non-interest expenses increased by 2.9% from ¥601,559 million for the six months ended September 30, 2013 to ¥618,992 million for the six
months ended September 30, 2014.

We are subject to a number of different taxes in Japan and have adopted the consolidation tax system permitted under Japanese tax law. The
consolidation tax system only imposes a national tax. Between April 1, 2004 and March 31, 2012, our effective statutory tax rate was 41%.
However, as a result of revisions to domestic tax laws, the effective statutory tax rates are 38% for the fiscal years beginning between April 1,
2012 and March 31, 2014, and 36% thereafter. Our foreign subsidiaries are subject to the income tax rates of the countries in which they operate,
which are generally lower than those in Japan. Our effective tax rate in any one year is therefore dependent on our geographic mix of profits and
losses and also on the specific tax treatment applicable in each location.

For the six months ended September 30, 2013, the difference between the effective statutory tax rate of 38% and the effective tax rate of 43.8%
was mainly due to non-deductible expenses, different tax rates and changes in effective statutory tax rates applicable to income (loss) of foreign
subsidiaries, whereas non-taxable revenues and a decrease in valuation allowance of foreign subsidiaries reduced the effective tax rate.

For the six months ended September 30, 2014, the difference between the effective statutory tax rate of 36% and the effective tax rate of 40.8%
was mainly due to non-deductible expenses, an increase in valuation allowance of foreign subsidiaries, whereas non-taxable revenue reduced the
effective tax rate.

Net income attributable to NHI shareholders was ¥104,006 million for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and ¥72,732 million for the six
months ended September 30, 2014, individually. Our annualized return on shareholder s equity was 8.9% for the six months ended September 30,
2013 and 5.7% for the six months ended September 30, 2014.

Retail

In Retail, our sales activities continue to focus on providing client consultation services and investment proposals for which we receive
commissions and fees from our sales activities. Additionally, we receive operational fees from asset management companies in connection with
the administration services of investment trust certificates that we distribute. We also receive agent commissions from insurance companies for
the insurance products we sell as an agent.

Millions of yen
Six months ended September 30

2013 2014
Non-interest revenues ¥ 283,200 ¥ 222,691
Net interest revenue 2,872 2,112
Net revenue 286,072 224,803
Non-interest expenses 165,011 154,332
Income before income taxes ¥ 121,061 ¥ 70,471

Net revenue decreased by 21.4% from ¥286,072 million for the six months ended September 30, 2013 to ¥224,803 million for the six months
ended September 30, 2014, primarily due to decreased sales performance of equities and investment trusts as a result of slow down of the equity
markets.

Non-interest expenses decreased by 6.5% from ¥165,011 million for the six months ended September 30, 2013 to ¥154,332 million for the six
months ended September 30, 2014.

Income before income taxes decreased by 41.8% from ¥121,061 million for the six months ended September 30, 2013 to ¥70,471 million for the
six months ended September 30, 2014.
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The following graph shows revenue generated by instrument in terms of Retail non-interest revenues for the six months ended September 30,
2013 and 2014.

As shown above, the proportion of Retail non-interest revenues from equities decreased from 33% for the six months ended September 30, 2013
to 29% for the six months ended September 30, 2014, primarily due to the slowdown of Japanese equity market environment. The proportion of
Retail non-interest revenues from investment trusts and asset management decreased from 48% for the six months ended September 30, 2013 to
47% for the six months ended September 30, 2014. The proportion of Retail non-interest revenues from bonds increased from 18% for the six
months ended September 30, 2013 to 19% for the six months ended September 30, 2014. The proportion of Retail non-interest revenues from
insurance increased from 1% for the six months ended September 30, 2013 to 5% for the six months ended September 30, 2014.
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The following graph shows amounts and details regarding the composition of retail client assets as of September 30, 2013 and 2014.

Retail Client Assets

Total retail client assets increased by ¥8.3 trillion from ¥90.9 trillion as of September 30, 2013 to ¥99.3 trillion at September 30, 2014. Retail
client assets consist of clients assets held in our custody and assets relating to insurance products.

Asset Management

Our Asset Management segment is conducted principally through Nomura Asset Management Co., Ltd. ( NAM ). We earn portfolio management
fees through the development and management of investment trusts, which are distributed by Nomura Securities Co., Ltd. ( NSC ), other brokers,
banks, Japan Post Bank Co., Ltd. and Japan Post Co., Ltd. We also provide investment advisory services for pension funds and other

institutional clients. Net revenues generally consist of asset management and portfolio services fees that are attributable to Asset Management.

Millions of yen
Six months ended September 30

2013 2014
Non-interest revenues ¥ 37,238 ¥ 43219
Net interest revenue 1,562 1,810
Net revenue 38,800 45,029
Non-interest expenses 25,937 28,946
Income before income taxes ¥ 12,863 ¥ 16,083

Net revenue increased by 16.1% from ¥38,800 million for the six months ended September 30, 2013 to ¥45,029 million for the six months ended
September 30, 2014.
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Non-interest expenses increased by 11.6% from ¥25,937 million for the six months ended September 30, 2013 to ¥28,946 million for the six
months ended September 30, 2014.

Income before income taxes increased by 25.0% from ¥12,863 million for the six months ended September 30, 2013 to ¥16,083 million for the
six months ended September 30, 2014.

The following table sets forth assets under management of each principal Nomura entity within Asset Management as of September 30, 2013
and 2014.

Billions of yen

September 30
2013 2014
Nomura Asset Management Co., Ltd. ¥ 33,107 ¥ 38,347
Nomura Funds Research and Technologies Co., Ltd. 2,492 2,612
Nomura Corporate Research and Asset Management Inc. 1,565 1,590
Nomura Private Equity Capital Co., Ltd. 153 174
Combined total 37,315 42,723
Overlapping asset accounts among group companies (7,295) (7,873)
Total ¥ 30,021 ¥ 34850

Assets under management increased by 16.1% from ¥30.0 trillion as of September 30, 2013 to ¥34.8 trillion as of September 30, 2014, primarily
due to inflows into our investment trust business and investment advisory business, and contribution of the new subsidiary company. The
greatest proportion of these assets was managed by NAM with assets under management of ¥38.3 trillion as of September 30, 2014.

Domestic publicly offered investment trust assets included in the assets under management by NAM were ¥20.1 trillion as of September 30
2014, a ¥2.7 trillion or 15% increase from September 30, 2013. We saw continuous inflows into our products during the six months ended
September 30, 2014. For our investment advisory business, assets under management were ¥12.1 trillion as of September 30, 2014, a

¥0.4 trillion or 3% increase from September 30, 2013.

The following table shows NAM s share, in terms of net asset value, in the Japanese asset management market as of September 30, 2013 and
2014.

September 30
2013 2014
Total of publicly offered investment trusts 23% 23%
Stock investment trusts 18% 19%
Bond investment trusts 42% 43%

Wholesale

In Wholesale, we are engaged in the sales and trading of debt securities and equity securities and currencies on a global basis to various
institutions, providing investment banking services such as the underwriting of bonds and equities as well as mergers and acquisitions and
financial advice and investing in private equity businesses with the goal of maximizing returns on these investments by increasing the corporate
value of investee companies.

Millions of yen
Six months ended September 30
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2013 2014
Non-interest revenues ¥ 313,738 ¥ 299,636
Net interest revenue 64,219 79,820
Net revenue 377,957 379,456
Non-interest expenses 327,435 351,508
Income (loss) before income taxes ¥ 50,522 ¥ 27,948

Net revenue increased by 0.4% from ¥377,957 million for the six months ended September 30, 2013 to ¥379,456 million for the six months
ended September 30, 2014.
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Non-interest expenses increased by 7.4% from ¥327,435 million for the six months ended September 30, 2013 to ¥351,508 million for the six
months ended September 30, 2014.

Income before income taxes decreased by 44.7% from ¥50,522 million for the six months ended September 30, 2013 to ¥27,948 million for the
six months ended September 30, 2014.

The breakdown of net revenue for Wholesale is as follows:

Millions of yen
Six months ended September 30

2013 2014
Fixed Income ¥ 191,312 ¥ 208,610
Equities 133,615 126,020
Investment Banking (Net) 48,899 45,237
Investment Banking (Other) 4,131 411)
Investment Banking 53,030 44,826
Net revenue ¥ 377957 ¥ 379,456
Investment Banking (Gross) ¥ 92,968 ¥ 83,887

For Fixed Income, net revenue increased by 9.0% from ¥191,312 million for the six months ended September 30, 2013 to ¥208,610 million for
the six months ended September 30, 2014 due to high performances of FX trading. For Equities, net revenue decreased by 5.7% from

¥133,615 million for the six months ended September 30, 2013 to ¥126,020 million for the six months ended September 30, 2014 due to the
slowdown of Japanese equity market environment. For Investment Banking, net revenue decreased by 15.5% from ¥53,030 million for the six
months ended September 30, 2013 to ¥44,826 million for the six months ended September 30, 2014, primarily due to a decrease in the volume of
capital market transactions in Japan.

Other Operating Results

Other operating results include net gain (loss) related to economic hedging transactions, realized gain (loss) on investments in equity securities
held for operating purposes, equity in earnings of affiliates, corporate items, and other financial adjustments. See Note 16 Segment and
geographic information in our interim consolidated financial statements.

Net revenue was ¥72,681 million for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and ¥89,294 million for the six months ended September 30,
2014. Non-interest expenses were ¥83,176 million for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and ¥84,206 million for the six months ended
September 30, 2014. Loss before income taxes in other operating results was ¥10,495 million for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and
income before income taxes in other operating results was ¥5,088 million for the six months ended September 30, 2014.

Other operating results for the six months ended September 30, 2014 include losses from changes in the fair value of the financial liabilities, for
which the fair value option was elected, attributable to the change in our creditworthiness of ¥2.2 billion; the negative impact of our own
creditworthiness on derivative liabilities, which resulted in losses of ¥5.5 billion; and gains from changes in counterparty credit spreads of ¥7.0
billion.

Number of Employees

The following table shows the number of our employees as of September 30, 2013 and 2014.

September 30
2013 2014
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Summary of Regional Contributions

For a summary of our net revenue, income (loss) before income taxes and long-lived assets by geographic region, see Note 16 Segment and
geographic information 1in our interim consolidated financial statements.

Regulatory Capital Requirements

Many of our business activities are subject to statutory capital requirements, including those of Japan, the U.S., the U.K. and certain other
countries in which we operate.

Translation Exposure

A significant portion of our business is conducted in currencies other than yen most significantly, U.S. dollars, British pounds and Euros. We
prepare financial statements of each of our consolidated entities in its functional currency, which is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates. Translation exposure is the risk arising from the effect of fluctuations in exchange rates on the net
assets of our foreign subsidiaries. Translation exposure is not recognized in our consolidated statements of income unless and until we dispose
of, or liquidate, the relevant foreign subsidiary, which historically has not occurred, and which we do not expect to occur frequently.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Use of Estimates

In preparing our interim consolidated financial statements, management makes estimates regarding certain financial instrument and investment
valuations, the outcome of litigation and tax examinations, the recovery of the carrying value of goodwill, the allowance for doubtful accounts,
the realization of deferred tax assets and other matters that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as well as the disclosures in these
interim consolidated financial statements. Estimates, by their nature, are based on judgment and available information. Therefore, actual results
may differ from estimates, which could have a material impact on the interim consolidated financial statements, and it is possible that such
adjustments could occur in the near term.

Fair Value for Financial Instruments

A significant amount of our financial instruments are carried at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized through the consolidated
statements of income or the consolidated statements of comprehensive income on a recurring basis. Use of fair value is either specifically
required under U.S. GAAP or we make an election to use fair value for certain eligible items under the fair value option.

Other financial assets and financial liabilities are carried at fair value on a nonrecurring basis, where the primary measurement basis is not fair
value. Fair value is only used in specific circumstances after initial recognition, such as to measure impairment.

In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification™ ( ASC ) 820 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures , all financial instruments
measured at fair value have been categorized into a three-level hierarchy based on the transparency of valuation inputs used to establish fair
value.

Level 1:
Unadjusted quoted prices for identical financial instruments in active markets accessible by Nomura at the measurement date.
Level 2:

Quoted prices in inactive markets or prices containing other inputs which are observable, either directly or indirectly. Valuation techniques using
observable inputs reflect assumptions used by market participants in pricing financial instruments and are based on data obtained from
independent market sources at the measurement date.

Level 3:
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Unobservable inputs that are significant to the fair value measurement of the financial instrument. Valuation techniques using unobservable
inputs reflect management s assumptions about the estimates used by other market participants in valuing similar financial instruments. These
valuation techniques are developed based on the best available information at the measurement date.

The availability of inputs observable in the market varies by product and can be affected by a variety of factors. Significant factors include, but
are not restricted to the prevalence of similar products in the market, especially for customized products, how established the product is in the
market, for example, whether it is a new product or is relatively mature, and the reliability of information provided in the market which would
depend, for example, on the frequency and volume of current data. A period of significant change in the market may reduce the availability of
observable data. Under such circumstances, financial instruments may be reclassified into a lower level in the fair value hierarchy.

11
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Significant judgments used in determining the classification of financial instruments include the nature of the market in which the product would
be traded, the underlying risks, the type and liquidity of market data inputs and the nature of observed transactions for similar instruments.

Where valuation models include the use of parameters which are less observable or unobservable in the market, significant management
judgment is used in establishing fair value. The valuations for Level 3 financial instruments, therefore, involve a greater degree of judgment than
those valuations for Level 1 or Level 2 financial instruments.

Certain criteria management use to determine whether a market is active or inactive include the number of transactions, the frequency that
pricing is updated by other market participants, the variability of price quotes among market participants, and the amount of publicly available
information.

Level 3 financial assets excluding derivatives as a proportion of total financial assets excluding derivatives, carried at fair value on a recurring
basis was 2% as of September 30, 2014 as listed below:

Billions of yen, except percentages
September 30, 2014

Counterparty
and
Cash Collateral The proportion of
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Netting Total Level 3

Financial assets measured at fair value (Excluding

derivative assets) ¥11,143 ¥ 9,160 ¥ 347 ¥ ¥ 20,650 2%
Derivative assets 810 31,147 193 (30,054) 2,096

Derivative liabilities 772 30,886 247 (30,155) 1,750

See Note 2 Fair value measurements in our interim consolidated financial statements.
Private equity business

All private equity investments made by investment company subsidiaries pursuant to the provisions of ASC 946 Financial Services Investment
Companies ( ASC 946 ) are accounted for at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized through our interim consolidated statements of
income.

The valuation of unlisted private equity investments requires significant management judgment because the investments, by their nature, have
little or no price transparency. Private equity investments are initially carried at cost as an approximation of fair value. Adjustments to carrying
value are made if there is third-party evidence of a change in value. Adjustments are also made, in the absence of third party transactions, if it is
determined that the expected exit price of the investment is different from carrying value. In reaching that determination, Nomura primarily uses
either a discounted cash flow ( DCF ) or market multiple valuation technique. A DCF valuation technique incorporates estimated future cash
flows to be generated from the underlying investee, as adjusted for an appropriate growth rate discounted at a weighted average cost of capital.
Market multiple valuation techniques include comparables such as Enterprise Value/earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization ratios, Price/Earnings ratios, Price/Book ratios, Price/Embedded Value ratios and other multiples based on relationships between
numbers reported in the financial statements of the investee and the price of comparable companies. A liquidity discount may also be applied to
either a DCF or market multiple valuation to reflect the specific characteristics of the investee. Where possible these valuations are compared
with the operating cash flows and financial performance of the companies or properties relative to budgets or projections, price/earnings data for
similar quoted investee, trends within sectors and/or regions and any specific rights or terms associated with the investment, such as conversion
features and liquidation preferences. Private equity investments are generally classified as Level 3 since the valuation inputs such as those
mentioned above are usually unobservable.

Any changes to valuations are then stress tested to assess the impact of particular risk factors in order to establish the final estimated valuation.
For more information on our private equity activities, see Private Equity Business below.

Assets and Liabilities Associated with Investment and Financial Services Business

Exposure to Certain Financial Instruments and Counterparties
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Market conditions impact numerous products including securitization products and leveraged finance to which we have certain exposure. We
also have exposures to Special Purpose Entities ( SPEs ) and others in the normal course of business.
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Securitization Products

Our exposure to securitization products consists of commercial mortgage-backed securities ( CMBS ), residential mortgage-backed securities
( RMBS ), and other securitization products. We hold these securitization products in connection with securitization, financing, trading and other
activities. The following table provides a summary of our exposure to securitization products by geographic region of the underlying collateral
as of September 30, 2014.

Millions of yen
September 30, 2014

Asia
and
Japan Europe Americas Oceania Total®
CMBS® ¥ 2,062 ¥ 24779 ¥ 69,515 ¥ ¥ 96,356
RMBS?® 17,594 56,509 342,730 645 417,478
Other securitization products® 84,078 181,997 199,433 465,508
Total ¥ 103,734  ¥263,285 ¥611,678 ¥ 645 ¥979,342

(1) The balances shown exclude certain CMBS of ¥23,166 million for which we transferred financial assets to securitization vehicles where

such transfers were accounted for as secured financings rather than sales under ASC 860 Transfers and Servicing ( ASC 860 ), and in which

we have no continuing economic exposure because the beneficial interests in the vehicles have been sold to third parties.

(2) We have ¥33,472 million exposure, as whole loans and commitments, to U.S. CMBS and RMBS-related business as of September 30,
2014.

(3) The RMBS balance for Americas excludes mortgage pass-through securities and U.S. government guaranteed collateralized mortgage
obligations ( CMOs ) of ¥1,713,438 million, because their credit risks are considered minimal.

(4) Includes collateralized loan obligations ( CLOs ), collateralized debt obligations ( CDOs ) and asset-backed securities ( ABS ) such as those

secured on credit card loans, auto loans, student loans and home equity loans.
The following table provides our exposure to CMBS by geographic region and the external credit ratings of the underlying collateral as of
September 30, 2014. Ratings are based on the lowest ratings given by Standard & Poor s Financial Services LLC, Moody s Investors Service,
Inc., Fitch Ratings Ltd., Japan Credit Rating Agency, Ltd. or Rating and Investment Information, Inc. as of September 30, 2014.

Millions of yen

September 30, 2014
B and
AAA AA A BBB BB lower Not rated Total
Japan ¥ ¥ ¥ ¥ ¥ 302 ¥ 1,674 ¥ 86 ¥ 2,062
Europe 3,846 8,173 6,191 6,487 82 24,779
Americas 24,425 3,413 12,003 7,459 5,761 15,359 1,095 69,515
Total ¥ 24,425 ¥3413 ¥ 15,849 ¥ 15,632 ¥12,254  ¥23,520 ¥ 1,263 ¥ 96,356

Leveraged Finance

We provide loans to clients in connection with leveraged buy-outs and leveraged buy-ins. As this type of finance is usually initially provided
through a commitment, we have both funded and unfunded exposures on these transactions.

The following table sets forth our exposure to leveraged finance by geographic location of the target company as of September 30, 2014.
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Millions of yen
September 30, 2014
Funded Unfunded Total

Europe ¥ 7,763 ¥ 11,276 ¥ 19,039
Americas 15,440 128,753 144,193
Total

¥23,203  ¥140,029  ¥163,232
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Special Purpose Entities ( SPEs )

Our involvement with these entities includes structuring, underwriting, as well as, subject to prevailing market conditions, distributing and
selling debt instruments and beneficial interests issued by these entities. In the normal course of securitization and equity derivative activities
business, we also act as a transferor of financial assets to, and underwriter, distributor and seller of repackaged financial instruments issued by
these entities. We retain, purchase and sell variable interests in SPEs in connection with our market-making, investing and structuring activities.
Our other types of involvement with SPEs include guarantee agreements and derivative contracts.

For further discussion on Nomura s involvement with variable interest entities ( VIEs ), see Note 6 Securitizations and Variable Interest Entities in
our interim consolidated financial statements.

Accounting Developments

See Note 1 Summary of accounting policies: New accounting pronouncements recently adopted in our interim consolidated financial
statements.

Private Equity Business
Nomura makes private equity investments primarily in Japan and Europe.

Private equity investments made by certain entities which Nomura consolidates under either a voting interest or variable interest model which
are investment companies pursuant to the provisions of ASC 946 are accounted for at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized through
the consolidated statements of income. Investment company accounting applied by each of these investment company subsidiaries is retained in
our interim consolidated financial statements.

These entities make private equity investments solely for capital appreciation, current income or both rather than to generate strategic operating
benefits to Nomura. In accordance with Nomura s investment policies, non-investment companies within the group may not make investments in
entities engaged in non-core businesses if such investments would result in consolidation or application of the equity method of accounting.

Such investments may generally only be made by investment company subsidiaries. Non-core businesses are defined as those engaged in
activities other than Nomura s business segments.

Nomura also has a subsidiary which is not an investment company but which makes investments in entities engaged in Nomura s core businesses.
These investments are made for capital appreciation or current income purposes or both and are also carried at fair value, either because of
election of the fair value option or other U.S. GAAP requirements.

Private Equity Business in Japan

Nomura makes private equity investments through a wholly-owned subsidiary, Nomura Financial Partners Co., Ltd. ( NFP ). NFP is not an
investment company subsidiary as it invests in entities engaged in our core business. We elected the fair value option to account for its 37.1%
investment in the common stock of Ashikaga Holdings Co., Ltd.

Private Equity Business in Europe

In Europe, Nomura s private equity investments primarily comprise legacy investments made by its former Principal Finance Group ( PFG ) now
managed by Terra Firma (collectively referred to as the Terra Firma Investments ), investments in other funds managed by Terra Firma ( Other
Terra Firma Funds ) and through other investment company subsidiaries ( Other Investments ).

14
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Terra Firma Investments

Nomura contributed our European private equity investments to Terra Firma Capital Partners I ( TFCP 1 ), a limited partnership which is engaged
in the private equity business, in exchange for a limited partnership interest. Terra Firma Investments (GP) Limited, the general partner of TFCP
I, which is independent of Nomura, assumed the management and control of these investments.

The Terra Firma Investments are held by entities which are investment company subsidiaries and therefore Nomura accounted for these
investments at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized through the interim consolidated statements of income.

Other Terra Firma Funds

In addition to the Terra Firma Investments, Nomura is a 10% investor in a ¥269 billion private equity fund ( TFCP II ) and a 2% investor in a
¥717 billion private equity fund ( TFCP III ), also raised and managed by Terra Firma Capital Partners Limited.

Nomura s total commitment for TFCP II was originally ¥26,919 million and reduced to ¥50 million as a result of adjustments for recyclable
distributions. As of September 30, 2014, no amount had been drawn down for investments.

For TFCP 1II, Nomura s total commitment was ¥13,589 million and ¥13,461 million had been drawn down for investments as of September 30,
2014.

The investments in TFCP II and TFCP 111 are carried at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized through the interim consolidated
statements of income.

Other Investments

Nomura also makes private equity investments through wholly-owned subsidiaries and other consolidated entities which have third party
pooling of funds. Certain of these entities are investment company subsidiaries and therefore all of their investments are carried at fair value,
with changes in fair value recognized through the interim consolidated statements of income.

15
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Deferred Tax Assets Information
Details of deferred tax assets and liabilities

Details of deferred tax assets and liabilities reported within Other assets Other and Other liabilities respectively in the consolidated balance
sheets as of September 30, 2014 are as follows:

Millions of yen
September 30, 2014
Deferred tax assets

Depreciation, amortization and valuation of fixed assets ¥ 14,432
Investments in subsidiaries and affiliates 34,428
Valuation of financial instruments 59,178
Accrued pension and severance costs 6,167
Other accrued expenses and provisions 98,506
Operating losses 456,521
Other 3,280
Gross deferred tax assets 672,512
Less Valuation allowance (518,604)
Total deferred tax assets 153,908

Deferred tax liabilities

Investments in subsidiaries and affiliates 111,310
Valuation of financial instruments 52,774
Undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries 736
Valuation of fixed assets 19,065
Other 5,962
Total deferred tax liabilities 189,847
Net deferred tax assets ¥ (35,939)

Calculation method of deferred tax assets

In accordance with U.S. GAAP, we recognize deferred tax assets to the extent we believe that it is more likely than not that a benefit will be
realized. A valuation allowance is provided for tax benefits available to us, which are not deemed more likely than not to be realized.

Legal Proceedings

For a discussion of our litigation and related matters, see Note 15 Commitments, contingencies and guarantees in our interim consolidated
financial statements.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Funding and Liquidity Management
Overview

We define liquidity risk as the risk of losses arising from difficulty in securing the necessary funding or from a significantly higher cost of
funding than normal levels due to deterioration of the Nomura Group s creditworthiness or deterioration in market conditions. This risk could
arise from Nomura-specific or market-wide events such as inability to access the secured or unsecured debt markets, a deterioration in our credit
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ratings, a failure to manage unplanned changes in funding requirements, a failure to liquidate assets quickly and with minimal loss in value, or
changes in regulatory capital restrictions which may prevent the free flow of funds between different group entities. Our liquidity risk
management policy is based on liquidity risk appetite which the Group Integrated Risk Management Committee formulates upon delegation by
the Executive Management Board ( EMB ). Nomura s liquidity risk management, under market-wide stress and in addition, under
Nomura-specific stress, seeks to ensure enough continuous liquidity to meet all funding requirements and unsecured debt obligations across one
year and one month periods, respectively, without raising funds through unsecured funding or through the liquidation of assets.

We have in place a number of liquidity risk management frameworks that enable us to achieve our primary liquidity objective. These
frameworks include (1) Centralized Control of Residual Cash and Maintenance of Liquidity Portfolio; (2) Appropriate Funding and
Diversification of Funding Sources and Maturities Commensurate with the Composition of Assets; (3) Management of Credit Lines to Nomura
Group Entities; (4) Implementation of Liquidity Stress Tests; and (5) Contingency Funding Plan.

Our EMB has the authority to make decisions concerning the group liquidity management. The Chief Financial Officer ( CFO ) has the
operational authority and responsibility over our liquidity management based on decisions made by the EMB.
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1. Centralized Control of Residual Cash and Maintenance of Liquidity Portfolio.

We centrally control residual cash held at Nomura Group entities for effective liquidity utilization purposes. As for the usage of funds, the CFO
decides the maximum amount of available funds, provided without posting any collateral, for allocation within Nomura and the EMB allocates
the funds to each business division. Global Treasury monitors the usage by businesses and reports to the EMB.

In order to enable us to transfer funds smoothly between group entities, we limit the issuance of securities by regulated broker-dealers or
banking entities within the Nomura Group and seek to raise unsecured funding primarily through the Company or through unregulated
subsidiaries. The primary benefits of this strategy include cost minimization, wider investor name recognition and greater flexibility in providing
funding to various subsidiaries across the Nomura Group.

To meet any potential liquidity requirement, we maintain a liquidity portfolio in the form of cash and highly liquid, unencumbered securities that
may be sold or pledged to provide liquidity. As of September 30, 2014, our liquidity portfolio was ¥5,793.1 billion which generated a liquidity
surplus taking into account stress scenarios.

The following table presents a breakdown of our liquidity portfolio by type of financial assets as of March 31, 2014 and September 30, 2014 and
averages maintained for the years ended March 31, 2014 and for six months ended September 30, 2014. Yearly and six months averages are
calculated using month-end amounts.

Billions of yen
Average for

Average for six
year ended months ended
March 31, 2014 March 31, 2014 September 30, 2014 September 30, 2014
Cash, cash equivalents and time deposits) ¥ 1,676.6 ¥ 1,497.2 ¥ 1,697.7 ¥ 1,311.1
Government securities 4,667.3 4,483.6 4,422.3 4,314.3
Others® 214.9 146.4 216.1 167.6
Total liquidity portfolio ¥6,558.8 ¥ 6,127.2 ¥ 6,336.1 ¥ 5,793.1

(1) Cash, cash equivalents, and time deposits include nostro balances and deposits with both central banks and market counterparties that are
readily available to support the liquidity position of Nomura.

(2) Others include other liquid financial assets such as money market funds and U.S. agency securities.

The following table presents a breakdown of our liquidity portfolio by currency as of March 31, 2014 and September 30, 2014 and averages

maintained for the years ended March 31, 2014 and for six months ended September 30, 2014. Yearly and six months averages are calculated

using month-end amounts.

Billions of yen

Average for Average for
year ended six months ended
March 31, 2014 March 31, 2014 September 30, 2014 September 30, 2014

Japanese Yen ¥2,463.3 ¥ 2,272.3 ¥ 2,406.3 ¥ 1,906.7
U.S. Dollar 2,171.5 2,050.4 2,227.9 2,118.4
Euro 1,015.0 1,049.0 1,046.7 1,236.6
British Pound 662.4 568.6 565.5 425.5
Others™® 246.6 186.9 89.6 105.9
Total liquidity portfolio ¥6,558.8 ¥ 6,127.2 ¥ 6,336.1 ¥ 5,793.1
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(1) Includes other currencies such as the Canadian dollar, the Australian dollar and the Swiss franc.

We assess our liquidity portfolio requirements globally as well as by each major operating entity in the Nomura Group. We primarily maintain

our liquidity portfolio at Nomura Holdings, Inc. ( NHI ) and Nomura Securities Co. Ltd ( NSC ), our other major broker-dealer subsidiaries, our
bank subsidiaries, and other group entities. In determining the amounts and entities which hold this liquidity portfolio, we consider legal,
regulatory and tax restrictions which may impact our ability to freely transfer liquidity across different entities in the Nomura Group.
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The following table presents a breakdown of our liquidity portfolio by entity as of March 31, 2014 and September 30, 2014.

Billions of yen

March 31, 2014 September 30, 2014
NHI and NSC® ¥1,900.9 ¥ 1,612.0
Major broker-dealer subsidiaries 2,815.2 2,847.1
Bank subsidiaries® 1,170.5 1,081.8
Other group entities 240.6 252.1
Total liquidity portfolio ¥6,127.2 ¥ 5,793.1

(1) NSC, a broker dealer located in Japan, holds an account with the Bank of Japan ( BOJ ) and has direct access to the BOJ Lombard facility
through which same day funding is available for our securities pool. Any liquidity surplus at NHI is lent to NSC via short-term
intercompany loans, which can be unwound immediately when needed.

(2) Includes Nomura Bank International plc ( NBI ), Nomura Singapore Limited and Nomura Bank Luxembourg S.A.

In addition to our liquidity portfolio, we had ¥1,923.5 billion of other unencumbered assets comprising mainly unpledged trading assets that can

be used as an additional source of secured funding. The aggregate of our liquidity portfolios and other unencumbered assets as of September 30,

2014 was ¥7,716.6 billion, which represented 279.4% of our total unsecured debt maturing within one year.

Billions of yen

March 31, 2014 September 30, 2014
Net liquidity value of other unencumbered assets ¥1,720.3 ¥ 1,923.5
Liquidity portfolio 6,127.2 5,793.1
Total ¥7,847.5 ¥ 7,716.6

2. Appropriate Funding and Diversification of Funding Sources and Maturities Commensurate with the Composition of Assets

We seek to maintain a surplus of long-term debt and equity above the cash capital requirements of our assets. This enables us to fund our
operations for at least one year in a market-wide stress event, without needing to raise unsecured funding or force the liquidation of assets. The
amount of liquidity required is based on an internal model which incorporates the following requirements:

(1)  Our ability to finance assets using secured funding, including repurchase agreements and securities lending transactions. The cash
capital requirements are calculated using conservative estimates of the assets secured borrowing power in stressed scenarios.

(i) Goodwill and identifiable intangible assets, property, equipment and other illiquid assets.

(iii) Collateral requirements on derivative contracts arising as a result of a two-notch downgrade in our credit rating.
Collateral requirements to support potential increased intraday collateral requirements from our clearing and settlement agents arising as a result
of a two-notch downgrade in our credit rating.

In addition, other unencumbered assets held at exchanges for other related requirements are also funded with long-term liquidity.
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(iv) Commitments to lend to external counterparties based on the probability of drawdown.

(v) Capital or other forms of financing in our regulated subsidiaries that is in excess of their long-term cash capital requirements.
Our internal model takes into account legal, regulatory and tax restrictions that may impact the ability to freely transfer liquidity across the
entities within the Nomura Group.

We seek to achieve diversification of our funding by market, instrument type, investors, currency, and staggered maturities in order to reduce
unsecured refinancing risk.

We diversify funding by issuing various types of debt instruments these include both structured loans and notes. Structured notes are debt
obligations with returns linked to interest rates, equities, indices, currencies or commodities. We issue structured notes in order to increase the
diversity of our debt instruments. We typically hedge the returns we are obliged to pay with derivatives and/or the underlying assets to maintain
funding consistency with our unsecured long-term debt. The proportion of our non-yen denominated long-term debt slightly increased to 34.6%
of total long-term debt outstanding as of September 30, 2014 from 32.0% as of March 31, 2014.
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2.1 Short-Term Unsecured Debt

Our short-term unsecured debt consists of short-term bank borrowings (including long-term bank borrowings maturing within one year), other
loans, commercial paper, deposits at banking entities, certificates of deposit and debt securities maturing within one year. Deposits at banking
entities and certificates of deposit comprise customer deposits and certificates of deposit held by our banking subsidiaries. Short-term unsecured
debt includes the current portion of long-term unsecured debt.

The following table presents an analysis of our short-term unsecured debt by type of financial liability as of March 31, 2014 and September 30,
2014.

Billions of yen

March 31, 2014 September 30, 2014
Short-term bank borrowings ¥ 7225 ¥ 673.0
Other loans 49.2 19.4
Commercial paper 246.9 271.8
Deposits at banking entities 757.7 702.1
Certificates of deposit 240.5 213.5
Debt securities maturing within one year 952.5 882.4
Total short-term unsecured debt ¥2.969.3 ¥ 2,762.2

2.2 Long-Term Unsecured Debt

We meet our long-term capital requirements and also achieve both cost-effective funding and an appropriate maturity profile by routinely
funding through long-term debt and diversifying across various maturities and currencies.

Our long-term unsecured debt includes senior and subordinated debt issued through U.S. registered shelf offerings and our U.S. registered
medium-term note programs, our Euro medium-term note programs, registered shelf offerings in Japan and various other debt programs.

As a globally competitive financial services group in Japan, we have access to multiple global markets and major funding centers. The
Company, NSC, Nomura Europe Finance N.V. ( NEF ) and NBI are the main group entities that borrow externally, issue debt instruments and
engage in other funding activities. By raising funds to match the currencies and liquidities of our assets or by using foreign exchange swaps as
necessary, we pursue optimization of our funding structures.

We use a wide range of products and currencies to ensure that our funding is efficient and well diversified across markets and investor types.
Our unsecured senior debt is mostly issued without financial covenants, such as covenants related to adverse changes in our credit ratings, cash
flows, results of operations or financial ratios, which could trigger an increase in our cost of financing or accelerate repayment of the debt.

The following table presents an analysis of our long-term unsecured debt by type of financial liability as of March 31, 2014 and September 30,
2014.

Billions of yen

March 31, 2014 September 30, 2014
Long-term deposits at banking entities ¥ 116.0 ¥ 140.6
Long-term bank borrowings 2,057.6 2,146.7
Other loans 129.0 171.5
Debt securities” 3,916.0 3,826.5
Total long-term unsecured debt ¥6,218.6 ¥ 6,285.3
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(1) Excludes long-term debt securities issued by consolidated special purpose entities and similar entities that meet the definition of variable
interest entities under ASC 810, Consolidation and secured financing transactions recognized within long-term borrowings as a result of
transfers of financial assets that are accounted for as financings rather than sales in accordance with ASC 860.
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2.3 Maturity Profile

We also seek to maintain an average maturity for plain vanilla instruments greater than or equal to three years. The average maturity for plain
vanilla debt securities and borrowings with maturities longer than one year was 3.8 years as of September 30, 2014. A significant amount of our
medium-term notes are structured and linked to interest rates, equities, indices, currencies or commodities. These maturities are evaluated based
on our internal model and monitored by Global Treasury. Maturities for plain vanilla debt securities and borrowings are evaluated based on
contractual maturities. Where there is a possibility that these may be called prior to their scheduled maturity date, maturities are based on our
internal stress option adjusted model. This model values the embedded optionality under stress market conditions in order to determine when the
debt securities or borrowing is likely to be called.

On this basis, the average maturity of structured notes (notes with maturities longer than one year) was 6.4 years as of September 30, 2014. The
average maturity of our entire long-term debt portfolio, including plain vanilla debt securities and borrowings, was 4.8 years as of September 30,
2014. The graph below shows the distribution of maturities of our outstanding long-term debt securities and borrowings.

Redemption schedule is individually estimated by considering the probability of redemption.
2.4 Secured Borrowings

We typically fund our trading activities on a secured basis through secured borrowings, repurchase agreements and Japanese Gensaki Repo
transactions. We believe these funding activities in the secured markets are more cost-efficient and less credit-rating sensitive than financing in
the unsecured market. Also, repurchase agreements tend to be short-term, often overnight. We lower the liquidity risks arising from secured
funding by transacting with a diverse group of global counterparties, delivering various types of securities collateral, and actively seeking
long-term agreements. For more detail of secured borrowings and repurchase agreements, see Note 4 Collateralized transactions in our
consolidated financial statements.

3. Management of Credit Lines to Nomura Group entities

We have committed facility agreements with financial institutions as part of our contingent financing sources. Total unused committed facilities
stayed the same at ¥65.0 billion as of September 30, 2014 from ¥65.0 billion as of March 31, 2014. We have structured facilities to ensure that
the maturity dates of these facilities are distributed evenly throughout the year in order to prevent excessive maturities of facilities in any given
period. While the ability to borrow under these facilities is subject to customary lending conditions and covenants, we do not believe that any of
the covenant requirements will impair our ability to draw on the facilities. We occasionally test the effectiveness of our drawdown procedures.
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4. Implementation of Liquidity Stress Tests

We maintain our liquidity portfolio and monitor the sufficiency of our liquidity based on an internal model which simulates changes in cash
outflow under specified stress scenarios to comply with our above mentioned liquidity management policy.

We assess the liquidity requirements of the Nomura Group under various stress scenarios with differing levels of severity over multiple time
horizons. We evaluate these requirements under Nomura-specific and broad market-wide events, including potential credit rating downgrades at
our parent company and subsidiary levels that may impact us by loss of access to unsecured capital markets, additional collateral posting
requirements, limited or no access to secured funding markets and other events. We call this risk analysis our Maximum Cumulative Outflow
( MCO ) framework.

The MCO framework is designed to incorporate the primary liquidity risks for Nomura and models the relevant cash flows in the following two
primary scenarios:

Stressed scenario To maintain adequate liquidity during a severe market-wide liquidity event without raising funds through
unsecured financing or the liquidation of assets for a year; and

Acute stress scenario To maintain adequate liquidity during a severe market-wide liquidity event coupled with credit concerns

regarding Nomura s liquidity position, without raising funds through unsecured funding or the liquidation of assets for one month.
We assume that Nomura will not be able to liquidate assets or adjust its business model during the time horizons used in each of these scenarios.
The MCO framework therefore defines the amount of liquidity required to be held in order to meet our expected liquidity needs in a stress event
to a level we believe appropriate based on our liquidity risk appetite.

As of September 30, 2014, our liquidity portfolio exceeded net cash outflows under the stress scenarios described above.

We constantly evaluate and modify our liquidity risk assumptions based on regulatory and market changes. The model we use in order to
simulate the impact of stress scenarios includes the following assumptions:

No liquidation of assets;

No ability to issue additional unsecured funding;

Upcoming maturities of unsecured debt (maturities less than one year);

Potential buybacks of our outstanding debt;

Loss of secured funding lines particularly for less liquid assets, over and above our cash capital estimates;

Fluctuation of funding needs under normal business circumstances;

Cash and collateral outflows in a stress event;
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Widening of haircuts on outstanding repo funding;

Additional collateralization requirements of clearing banks and depositories;

Drawdown on loan commitments;

Loss of liquidity from market losses on inventory; and

Legal and regulatory requirements that can restrict the flow of funds between entities in the Nomura Group.
We recognize that liquidity standards for financial institutions continues to be the subject of further discussion among relevant supervisory
bodies including the Basel Committee. The existing model and simulations upon which we currently rely may need to be reviewed depending on
any new development in this area.

In 2008, the Basel Committee published Principles for Sound Liquidity Risk Management and Supervision ( Sound Principles ). To complement
these principles, the Committee has further strengthened its liquidity framework by developing two minimum standards for funding liquidity.
These standards have been developed to achieve two separate but complementary objectives.

The first objective is to promote short-term resilience of a bank s liquidity risk profile by ensuring that it has sufficient high-quality liquid assets
to survive a significant stress scenario lasting for one month. The Committee developed the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (the LCR ) to achieve this
objective.

The second objective is to promote resilience over a longer time horizon by creating additional incentives for banks to fund their activities with
more stable sources of funding on an ongoing basis. The Net Stable Funding Ratio (the NSFR ) has a time horizon of one year and has been
developed to provide a sustainable maturity structure of assets and liabilities.

These two standards are comprised mainly of specific parameters which are internationally harmonised with prescribed values. Certain
parameters, however, contain elements of national discretion to reflect jurisdiction-specific conditions.

After an observation period, the LCR, including any revisions, will be introduced on January 1, 2015. The NSFR, including any revisions, will
move to a minimum standard by January 1, 2018.

5. Contingency Funding Plan

We have developed a detailed contingency funding plan to integrate liquidity risk control into our comprehensive risk management strategy and
to enhance the quantitative aspects of our liquidity risk control procedures. As a part of our Contingency Funding Plan ( CFP ), we have
developed an approach for analyzing and quantifying the impact of any liquidity crisis. This allows us to estimate the likely impact of both
Nomura-specific and market-wide events; and specifies the immediate action to be taken to mitigate any risk. The CFP lists details of key
internal and external parties to be contacted and the processes by which information is to be disseminated. This has been developed at a legal
entity level in order to capture specific cash requirements at the local level it assumes that our parent company does not have access to cash that
may be trapped at a subsidiary level due to regulatory, legal or tax constraints. We periodically test the effectiveness of our funding plans for
different Nomura-specific and market-wide events. We also have access to central banks including, but not exclusively, the BOJ, which provide
financing against various types of securities. These operations are accessed in the normal course of business and are an important tool in
mitigating contingent risk from market disruptions.
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Cash Flows

Nomura s cash flows are primarily generated from operating activities undertaken in connection with our client flows and trading and from
financing activities which are closely related to such activities. As a financial institution, growth in operations tends to result in cash outflows
from operating activities as well as investing activities, as was generally the case for a number of years. For the six months ended September 30,
2014, we recorded net cash inflows from operating activities and investing activities as discussed in the comparative analysis mentioned below.

The following is the summary information on our consolidated cash flows for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2014:

Billions of yen
Six months ended September 30

2013 2014
Net cash provided by operating activities ¥ 4048 ¥ 31.7
Net income 104.6 74.4
Trading assets and private equity investments (803.5) (775.7)
Trading liabilities 1,131.7 (395.7)
Securities purchased under agreements to resell, net of securities sold under agreements to repurchase 224.0 907.2
Securities borrowed, net of securities loaned (232.4) (34.8)
Other, net (19.7) 256.3
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (98.1) 23.6
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 169.0 (134.6)
Long-term borrowings, net 165.8 22.8
Short-term borrowings, net 59.6 5.2)
Other, net (56.4) (152.2)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 17.2 29.3
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 493.0 (50.0)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 805.1 1,489.8
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period ¥ 1,298.0 ¥ 1,439.8

See the consolidated statements of cash flows in our interim consolidated financial statements for more detailed information.

For the six months ended September 30, 2014, our cash and cash equivalents decreased by ¥50.0 billion to ¥1,439.8 billion. Net cash of ¥134.6
billion was used in financing activities due to cash outflows of ¥1,188.5 billion by decrease in long-term borrowings, which is included in
Long-term borrowings, net. As part of trading activities, while there were net cash outflows of ¥775.7 billion due to an increase in Trading
assets and Private equity investments, these cash outflows were offset by net cash inflows of ¥907.2 billion from cash inflow due to an increase
in Securities purchased under agreements to resell, net of securities sold under agreements to repurchase. As a result, net cash of ¥31.7 billion
was provided by operating activities.

For the six months ended September 30, 2013, our cash and cash equivalents increased by ¥493.0 billion to ¥1,298.0 billion. Net cash of ¥169.0
billion was provided by financing activities due to cash inflows of ¥225.4 billion by net receipts of Long-term borrowings and Short-term
borrowings. As part of trading activities, while there were net cash outflows of ¥803.5 billion from cash outflows due to an increase in Trading
assets and Private equity investments, these cash outflows were offset by net cash inflows of ¥1,131.7 billion from cash inflow due to an
increase in Trading liabilities. As a result, net cash of ¥404.8 billion was provided by operating activities.
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Balance Sheet and Financial Leverage

Total assets as of September 30, 2014, were ¥43,802.1 billion, an increase of ¥281.8 billion compared with ¥43,520.3 billion as of March 31,
2014, reflecting increases in Trading assets. Total liabilities as of September 30, 2014, were ¥41,186.9 billion, an increase of ¥219.8 billion
compared with ¥40,967.1 billion as of March 31, 2014, reflecting increases in Securities loaned. NHI shareholders equity as of September 30,
2014, was ¥2,561.1 billion, an increase of ¥47.4 billion compared with ¥2,513.7 billion as of March 31, 2014.

We seek to maintain sufficient capital at all times to withstand losses due to extreme market movements. The EMB is responsible for
implementing and enforcing capital policies. This includes the determination of our balance sheet size and required capital levels. We
continuously review our equity capital base to ensure that it can support the economic risk inherent in our business. There are also regulatory
requirements for minimum capital of entities that operate in regulated securities or banking businesses.

As leverage ratios are commonly used by other financial institutions similar to us, we voluntarily provide a Leverage ratio and Adjusted leverage
ratio primarily for benchmarking purposes so that users of our annual report can compare our leverage against other financial institutions.
Adjusted leverage ratio is a non-GAAP financial measure that Nomura considers to be a useful supplemental measure of leverage. There are
currently no regulatory or statutory reporting requirements which require us to disclose leverage ratios.

The following table sets forth total NHI shareholders equity, total assets, adjusted assets and leverage ratios:

Billions of yen, except ratios

March 31, 2014 September 30, 2014
NHI shareholders equity ¥ 2513.7 ¥ 2,561.1
Total assets 43,520.3 43,802.1
Adjusted assets""” 26,1733 274214
Leverage ratio” 17.3x 17.1x
Adjusted leverage ratio” 10.4x 10.7x

(1) Represents total assets less Securities purchased under agreements to resell and Securities borrowed. Adjusted assets is a non-GAAP
financial measure and is calculated as follows:

Billions of yen

March 31, 2014 September 30, 2014
Total assets ¥43,520.3 ¥ 43,802.1
Less:
Securities purchased under agreements to resell 9,617.7 8,299.8
Securities borrowed 7,729.3 8,080.9
Adjusted assets ¥26,173.3 ¥ 27,4214

(2) Equals total assets divided by NHI shareholders equity.

(3) Equals adjusted assets divided by NHI shareholders equity.

Total assets increased by 0.6% reflecting primarily increases in Trading assets. NHI shareholders equity increased by 1.9%. Our leverage ratio
went down from 17.3 times as of March 31, 2014 to 17.1 times as of September 30, 2014.

Adjusted assets increased due primarily to the increase in Trading assets. As a result, our adjusted leverage ratio went up from 10.4 times as of
March 31, 2014 to 10.7 times as of September 30, 2014.
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Capital Management Policy

We seek to enhance shareholder value and to capture growing business opportunities by maintaining sufficient levels of capital. We review
levels of capital as appropriate, taking into consideration the economic risks inherent to operating our businesses, the regulatory requirements,
and maintaining our ratings necessary to operate businesses globally.

Dividends

Nomura believes that pursuing a sustainable increase in shareholder value and paying dividends are essential to generating returns to our
shareholders. Nomura will strive to pay stable dividends using a consolidated payout ratio of 30 percent as a key indicator.

Dividend payments will be determined taking into account a comprehensive range of factors such as the tightening of Basel regulations and
other changes to the regulatory environment, as well as the Company s consolidated financial performance.

Nomura paid dividend of ¥6.0 per share for the first half in line with its dividend policy for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015.

With respect to the retained earnings, in order to implement measures to adapt to regulatory changes and to increase shareholder value, we seek
to efficiently invest in business areas where high profitability and growth may reasonably be expected, including the development and expansion
of infrastructure.

The following table sets forth the amounts of dividends per share paid by us in respect of the periods indicated:

Fiscal year ended or ending March 31, First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter Total
2010 ¥ ¥ 4.00 ¥ ¥ 4.00 ¥ 8.00
2011 4.00 4.00 8.00
2012 4.00 2.00 6.00
2013 2.00 6.00 8.00
2014 8.00 9.00 17.00
2015 6.00

Stock Repurchases

We consider repurchase of treasury stock as an option in our financial strategy to respond quickly to changes in the business environment and to
increase shareholder value. We make announcements immediately after any decision to set up a share buyback program and conduct such
programs in accordance with internal guidelines.

On October 28, 2014, we announced a resolution of the Board of Directors to establish a share buyback program in accordance with Article
459-1 of the Companies Act of Japan. The period of repurchase under the program was from November 13, 2014 to January 16, 2015, and we
were authorized to purchase up to 40,000,000 shares of our common stock or to a maximum of ¥28 billion.
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The FSA established the Guideline for Financial Conglomerates Supervision ( Financial Conglomerates Guideline ) in June 2005 and set out the
rules on consolidated regulatory capital. We started monitoring our consolidated capital adequacy ratio in accordance with the Financial
Conglomerates Guideline from April 2005.

The Company has been assigned as a Final Designated Parent Company who must calculate a consolidated capital adequacy ratio according to
the Capital Adequacy Notice on Final Designated Parent Company in April 2011. Since then, we have been calculating our consolidated capital
adequacy ratio according to the Capital Adequacy Notice on Final Designated Parent Company. Note that the Capital Adequacy Notice on Final
Designated Parent Company has been revised to be in line with Basel 2.5 and Basel 111, and we have calculated a Basel I1I-based consolidated
capital adequacy ratio from the end of March 2013. Basel 2.5 includes significant change in calculation method of market risk and Basel II1
includes redefinition of capital items for the purpose of requiring higher quality of capital and expansion of the scope of credit risk-weighted
assets calculation.

In accordance with Article 2 of the Capital Adequacy Notice on Final Designated Parent Company, our consolidated capital adequacy ratio is
currently calculated based on the amounts of common equity Tier 1 capital, Tier 1 capital (sum of common equity Tier 1 capital and additional
Tier 1 capital), total capital (sum of Tier 1 capital and Tier 2 capital), credit risk-weighted assets, market risk and operational risk. As of
September 30, 2014, our common equity Tier 1 capital ratio (common equity Tier 1 capital divided by risk-weighted assets) is 12.7%, Tier 1
capital ratio (Tier 1 capital divided by risk-weighted assets) is 12.7% and consolidated capital adequacy ratio (total capital divided by
risk-weighted assets) is 14.7% and we were in compliance with the requirement for each ratio set out in the Capital Adequacy Notice on Final
Designated Parent Company (required level as of September 30, 2014 is 4.0% for common equity Tier 1 capital ratio, 5.5% for Tier 1 capital
ratio and 8.0% for consolidated capital adequacy ratio).

The following table presents the Company s consolidated capital adequacy ratio as of March 31, 2014 and September 30, 2014.

Billions of yen, except ratios

March 31, 2014 September 30, 2014
Common equity Tier 1 capital ¥ 23142 ¥ 2,351.9
Tier 1 capital 2,314.2 2,351.9
Total capital 2,715.7 2,723.4
Risk-Weighted Assets
Credit risk-weighted assets 8,034.8 8,209.4
Market risk equivalent assets 6,999.7 7,656.6
Operational risk equivalent assets 2,391.5 2,567.8
Total risk-weighted assets ¥ 174259 ¥ 18,433.8
Consolidated Capital Adequacy Ratios
Common equity Tier 1 capital ratio 13.2% 12.7%
Tier 1 capital ratio 13.2% 12.7%
Consolidated capital adequacy ratio 15.5% 14.7%

Common equity Tier 1 capital, additional Tier 1 capital and Tier 2 capital are calculated by deducting regulatory adjustment item from basic
item for each capital class, respectively. If the amount of basic item is less than the amount of adjustment item, we need to deduct deficit amount
from upper capital class. Each capital item and regulatory adjustment is defined in the Capital Adequacy Notice on Final Designated Parent
Company and these new definitions of capital will come into effect gradually by transitional measures.

As of September 30, 2014, capital items for our common equity Tier 1 capital mainly consists of shareholder s equity relating to the common
stock and all or part of subordinated debt which satisfies the requirements under Capital Adequacy Notice on Final Designated Parent Company
(such as maturity) is included into capital items for Tier 2 capital. We have not issued any capital instruments which can be included into
additional Tier 1 capital.

Regulatory adjustment for our common equity Tier 1 capital mainly consists of a part of intangible assets and expected losses and regulatory
adjustment for our Tier 2 capital includes investments in additional Tier 1 capital instruments of other financial institutions and a part of
expected losses (Note both items are transitional treatment.). Regulatory adjustment for our additional Tier 1 capital will be included into
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regulatory adjustment for common equity Tier 1 capital, as we don t have any outstanding additional Tier 1 capital instruments.

Market risk equivalent assets are calculated by using The Internal Models Approach for market risk. Since the end of December, 2011, we have
been required to calculate market risk equivalent assets under the Basel 2.5 rule, which is significantly larger than market risk equivalent assets
under the Basel II rule. Also, since the end of March 2013, a part of securitization products is added to the scope of market risk calculation.
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On the end of March, 2011, we have been calculating credit risk-weighted assets and operational risk equivalent assets by using the foundation
Internal Ratings-Based Approach and The Standardized Approach, respectively, with the approval of the FSA. Furthermore, since the end of
December, 2012, we started using the Internal Model Method for the exposure calculation of majority of derivative and repurchase transactions
instead of the Current Exposure Method or the Comprehensive Method upon approval from the FSA,. Since the end of March 2013, the scope of
credit risk-weighted assets calculation has been widened following the implementation of Basel III (e.g., credit risk for credit value adjustment

( CVA ) on derivative exposures, credit risk for central counterparties ( CCPs ) exposures, etc.).

We provide consolidated capital adequacy ratios not only to demonstrate that we are in compliance with the requirements set out in the Capital
Adequacy Notice on Final Designated Parent Company but also for benchmarking purposes so that users of our report can compare our capital
position against those of other financial groups to which Basel III is applied. Management receives and reviews these capital ratios on a regular
basis.

The Basel Committee has issued a series of announcements regarding a Basel III program designed to strengthen the regulatory capital
framework in light of weaknesses revealed by the financial crises. The following is a summary of the proposals which are most relevant to us.

On July 13, 2009, the Basel Committee announced its approval of a package of measures designed to strengthen its rules governing trading book
capital and to enhance the three pillars of the Basel II framework, which was called Basel 2.5 . This announcement stated that the Basel
Committee s trading book rules, effective at the end of 2011, would introduce higher capital requirements to capture the credit risk of complex
trading activities, which became effective as the end of 2011. Such trading book rules also included a stressed VaR requirement.

On December 16, 2010, in an effort to promote a more resilient banking sector, the Basel Committee issued Basel 111, that is, International
framework for liquidity risk measurement, standards and monitoring and A global regulatory framework for more resilient banks and banking
systems . The proposals include raising the quality, consistency and transparency of the capital base; strengthening the risk coverage of the
capital framework such as the implementation of a CVA charge for over-the-counter derivative trades; introducing a leverage ratio requirement
as a supplemental measure to the risk-based framework; and introducing a series of measures to address concerns over the procyclicality of the
current framework. The proposals also introduce a minimum liquidity standard including a 30-day liquidity coverage ratio as well as a
longer-term structural liquidity ratio. Additional capital, liquidity or other supervisory measures to reduce the externalities created by
systemically important institutions are also under review. These standards were implemented from 2013, which includes transitional treatment
(i.e. they are phased in gradually from 2013). In addition, after two rounds of public consultation and discussions with the Committee on
Payment and Settlement Systems ( CPSS ) and the International Organization of Securities Commissions ( IOSCO ), the Basel Committee has
issued interim rules for the capitalization of bank exposures to CCPs on July 25, 2012, which were intended to come into effect as of January
2013 as part of Basel III.

At the G-20 summit in November 2011, the Financial Stability Board ( FSB ) and the Basel Committee announced the list of global systemically
important banks ( G-SIBs ) and the additional requirements to the G-SIBs including the recovery and resolution plan. The FSB also announced
the group of G-SIBs will be updated annually and published by the FSB each November. In November 2013, the FSB and the Basel Committee
have updated the list of G-SIBs. We were not designated as a G-SIBs in November 2012 and November 2013. On the other hand, the FSB and

the Basel Committee were asked to work on extending the framework for G-SIBs to domestic systemically important financial institutions

( D-SIBs ) and the Basel Committee developed and published a set of principles on the assessment methodology and the higher loss absorbency
requirement for D-SIBs. In addition to the above, the FSB and the IOSCO have published assessment methodologies for identifying Non-bank
Non-insurer Global Systemically Important Financial Institutions (NBNI G-SIFIs), for public consultation.

Following the change in international regulatory environment, the FSA introduced rules and notices such as the Capital Adequacy Notice on

Final Designated Parent Company on consolidated regulation and supervision of securities companies on a consolidated basis on April 1, 2011

to improve the stability and transparency of Japan s financial system and ensure the protection of investors. It is expected that such regulation and
notice will be revised further to be in line with a series of rules and standards proposed by the Basel Committee, FSB or IOSCO.

26

Table of Contents 43



Edgar Filing: NOMURA HOLDINGS INC - Form 6-K

Table of Conten
Credit Ratings

The cost and availability of unsecured funding are generally dependent on credit ratings. Our long-term and short-term debt is rated by several
recognized credit rating agencies. We believe that our credit ratings include the credit ratings agencies assessment of the general operating
environment, our positions in the markets in which we operate, reputation, earnings structure, trend and volatility of our earnings, risk
management framework, liquidity and capital management. An adverse change in any of these factors could result in a downgrade of our credit
ratings, and that could, in turn, increase our borrowing costs and limit our access to the capital markets or require us to post additional collateral
and permit counterparties to terminate transactions pursuant to certain contractual obligations. In addition, our credit ratings can have a
significant impact on certain of our trading revenues, particularly in those businesses where longer term counterparty performance is critical,
such as OTC derivative transactions.

On October 9, 2014, Moody s upgraded the long-term issuer and senior unsecured debt ratings of the Company to Baal from Baa3. Moody s also
upgraded the long-term issuer rating of Nomura Securities Co., Ltd. ( NSC ) to A3 from Baa2.

As of November 30, 2014, the credit ratings of the Company and NSC were as follows:

Nomura Holdings, Inc. Short-term Debt Long-term Debt
Standard & Poor s A-2 BBB+
Moody s Investors Service Baal
Fitch Ratings F1 A-
Rating and Investment Information, Inc. a-1 A+
Japan Credit Rating Agency, Ltd. AA-
Nomura Securities Co., Ltd. Short-term Debt Long-term Debt
Standard & Poor s A-2 A-
Moody s Investors Service P-2 A3

Fitch Ratings F1 A-
Rating and Investment Information, Inc. a-1 A+
Japan Credit Rating Agency, Ltd. AA-

Both Rating and Investment Information, Inc. and Japan Credit Rating Agency, Ltd. are credit rating agencies nationally recognized in Japan.

We rely on, or utilize, credit ratings on our long-term and short-term debt provided by these Japanese credit rating agencies, as well as

Standard & Poor s and Moody s Investors Service, for unsecured funding and other financing purposes and also for our trading and other business
activities.

There has been no change to the ratings in the above table since the date indicated.
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Off-Balance Sheet Entities

In the normal course of business, we engage in a variety of off-balance sheet arrangements with off-balance sheet entities which may have an
impact on Nomura s future financial position and performance.

Off-balance sheet arrangements with off-balance sheet entities include the following where Nomura has:

an obligation under a guarantee contract;

a retained or contingent interest in assets transferred to an off-balance sheet entity or similar arrangement that serves to provide
credit, liquidity or market risk support to such entity;

any obligation, including a contingent obligation, under a contract that would be accounted for as a derivative instrument; or

any obligation, including contingent obligation, arising out of a variable interest in an off-balance sheet entity that is held by, and
material to us, where such entity provides financing, liquidity, market risk or credit risk support to, or engages in leasing, hedging or
research and development services with us.
Off-balance sheet entities may take the form of a corporation, partnership, fund, trust or other legal vehicle which is designed to fulfill a limited,
specific purpose by its sponsor. We both create or sponsor these entities and also enter into arrangements with entities created or sponsored by
others.

Our involvement with these entities includes structuring, underwriting, distributing and selling debt instruments and beneficial interests issued
by these entities, subject to prevailing market conditions. In connection with our securitization and equity derivative activities, we also act as a
transferor of financial assets to these entities, as well as, underwriter, distributor and seller of asset-repackaged financial instruments issued by
these entities. We retain, purchase and sell variable interests in SPEs in connection with our market-making, investing and structuring activities.
Our other types of off-balance sheet arrangements include guarantee agreements and derivative contracts. Significant involvement is assessed
based on all of our arrangements with these entities, even if the probability of loss, as assessed at the balance sheet date, is remote.

For further information about transactions with VIEs, see Note 6 Securitizations and Variable Interest Entities in our interim consolidated
financial statements.

Contractual Obligations

Since March 31, 2014, there have been no other material changes outside our ordinary course of business in connection with our standby letters
of credit and other guarantees, long-term borrowings and contractual interest payments, operating lease commitments, capital lease
commitments, purchase obligations, commitments to extend credit, commitments to invest in partnerships, commitments to purchase aircraft and
commitments to purchase real estate.

For further details on our commitments, contingencies and guarantees, see Note 15 Commitments, contingencies and guarantees in our
interim consolidated financial statements.

28

Table of Contents 45



Edgar Filing: NOMURA HOLDINGS INC - Form 6-K

Table of Conten

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Risk Management

Nomura defines risks as (i) the potential erosion of Nomura s capital base due to unexpected losses arising from risks to which its business
operations are exposed, such as market risk, credit risk, operational risk and model risk, (ii) liquidity risk, the potential lack of access to funds or
higher cost of funding than normal levels due to a deterioration in Nomura s creditworthiness or deterioration in market conditions, and

(iii) business risk, the potential failure of revenues to cover costs due to a deterioration in the earnings environment or a deterioration in the
efficiency or effectiveness of its business operations.

A fundamental principle established by Nomura is that all employees shall regard themselves as principals of risk management and appropriately
manage these risks. Nomura seeks to promote a culture of proactive risk management throughout all levels of the organization and to limit risks
to the confines of its risk appetite. The risk management framework that Nomura uses to manage these risks consists of its risk appetite, risk
management governance and oversight, the management of financial resources, the management of all risk classes, and processes to measure and
control risks. Each of these key components is explained in further detail below.

Risk Appetite
Nomura s risk appetite defines the type and quantum of risk that Nomura is willing to accept in pursuit of its business objectives. The Risk

Management Division and the Finance Division are jointly responsible for developing and proposing risk appetite to the Group Integrated Risk
Management Committee ( GIRMC ) for their input and final approval.

Nomura s risk appetite includes both quantitative measures and qualitative statements of appetite, covering Nomura s risk classes. It provides an
aggregated view of risk and is subject to regular monitoring and breach escalation as appropriate by the owner of the relevant risk appetite
statement.

Nomura s risk appetite is required to be reviewed annually by the GIRMC but may be reviewed on an ad hoc basis, and must specifically be
reviewed following any significant changes in Nomura s strategy. Risk appetite underpins all additional aspects of Nomura s risk management
framework.

Risk Management Governance and Oversight

Committee Governance

Nomura has established a committee structure to facilitate effective business operations and management of Nomura s risks. The formal
governance structure for risk management within Nomura is as follows:

Board of Directors ( BoD )

The BoD determines the policy for the execution of the business of Nomura and other matters prescribed in laws and regulations, supervises
Directors and Executive Officers execution of their duties and has authority to adopt, alter or abolish the regulations of the Executive
Management Board.
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Executive Management Board ( EMB )

The EMB deliberates on and determines management strategy, the allocation of management resources and important management matters of
Nomura, and seeks to increase shareholder value by promoting effective use of management resources and unified decision-making with regard
to the execution of business. The EMB delegates responsibility for deliberation of matters concerning risk management to the GIRMC. Key
responsibilities of the EMB include the following:

Resource Allocation At the beginning of each financial year, the EMB determines the allocation of management resources and
financial resources such as economic capital and unsecured funding to business units and establishes usage limits for these resources;

Business Plan At the beginning of each financial year, the EMB approves the business plan and budget of Nomura. Introduction of
significant new businesses, changes to business plans, the budget and the allocation of management resources during the year are
also approved by the EMB; and

Reporting The EMB reports the status of its deliberations to the BoD.
Group Integrated Risk Management Committee ( GIRMC )

Upon delegation from the EMB, the GIRMC deliberates on or determines important matters concerning integrated risk management of Nomura
to assure the sound and effective management of its businesses. The GIRMC establishes Nomura s risk appetite and a framework of integrated
risk management consistent with Nomura s risk appetite. The GIRMC supervises Nomura s risk management by establishing and operating its
risk management framework. The GIRMC reports the status of key risk management issues and any other matters deemed necessary by the
committee chairman to the BoD and the EMB.

In addition, the GIRMC, upon delegation from the EMB, has established the Risk Management Policy, describing Nomura s overall risk
management framework including the fundamental risk management principles followed by Nomura.

Global Risk Management Committee ( GRMC )

Upon delegation from the GIRMC, the GRMC deliberates on or determines, based on strategic risk allocation and risk appetite determined by
the GIRMC, important matters concerning market, credit or reputational risk management of Nomura in order to assure the sound and effective
management of Nomura s businesses. The GRMC reports to the GIRMC the status of discussions at its meetings and any other matters as
deemed necessary by the committee chairman.

Asset Liability Committee ( ALCO )

Upon delegation from the GIRMC, the ALCO deliberates on, based on Nomura s risk appetite determined by the GIRMC, balance sheet
management, financial resource allocation, liquidity management and related matters. The ALCO reports to the GIRMC the status of discussions
at its meetings and any other matters as deemed necessary by the committee chairman.

Global Risk Analytics Committee ( GRAC ) and Model Risk Analytics Committee ( MRAC )

Upon delegation from the GRMC, the GRAC and the MRAC deliberate on or determine matters concerning the development, management and
strategy of risk models and valuation models, respectively. The committees primary responsibility is to govern and provide oversight of model
management, including the approval of new models and significant model changes. Both committees report all significant matters and material
decisions taken to the GRMC, on a regular basis.

GRMC Transaction Committee

Upon delegation from the GRMC, the GRMC Transaction Committee deliberates on or approves individual transactions in line with Nomura s
risk appetite in order to assure the sound and effective management of Nomura s businesses.

Table of Contents 47



Edgar Filing: NOMURA HOLDINGS INC - Form 6-K

Collateral Steering Committee ( CSC )

Upon delegation from the GRMC, the CSC deliberates on or determines Nomura s collateral risk management, including concentrations,
liquidity, collateral re-use, limits and stress tests, provides direction on Nomura s collateral strategy and ensures compliance with regulatory
collateral requirements.

Chief Risk Officer ( CRO )

The CRO is responsible for setting the overall strategy and direction of the Risk Management Division. The CRO is responsible for supervising
the Risk Management Division and maintaining the effectiveness of the risk management framework independently from the business units

within Nomura. The CRO regularly reports on the status of Nomura s risk management to the GIRMC, and reports to and seeks the approval of
the GIRMC on measures required for risk management.
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Chief Financial Officer ( CFO )

The CFO is responsible for overall financial strategy of Nomura, and has operational authority and responsibility over Nomura s liquidity
management based on decisions made by the EMB.

Risk Management Division

The Risk Management Division comprises various departments or units in charge of risk management established independently from Nomura s
business units. The Risk Management Division is responsible for establishing and operating risk management processes, establishing and
enforcing risk management policies and regulations, verifying the effectiveness of risk management methods, gathering reports from Nomura
Group entities, reporting to Executive Officers/Senior Managing Directors and the GIRMC and others, as well as reporting to regulatory bodies
and handling regulatory applications concerning risk management methods and other items as necessary. Important risk management issues are
closely communicated between members of the Risk Management departments and the CRO. The CRO and/or Deputy CRO regularly attend the
EMB and GIRMC meetings to report specific risk issues.

Risk Policy Framework

Policies and procedures are essential tools of governance used by the Risk Management Division. They define principles, rules and standards,
and the specific processes that must be adhered to in order to effectively manage risk at Nomura. The Risk Management Division has established
arisk policy framework to promote appropriate standards and consistency for risk policies and procedures and to articulate the principles and
procedures conducive to effective risk management. All risk management policies and procedures are developed in line with this policy
framework and a defined process is followed for any exceptions.

Monitoring. Reporting and Data Integrity

Development, consolidation, monitoring and reporting of risk management information ( risk MI ) are fundamental to the appropriate
management of risk. The aim of all risk MI is to provide a basis for sound decision-making, action and escalation as required. The Risk
Management Division and the Finance Division are responsible for producing regular risk MI, which reflects the position of Nomura relative to
stated risk appetite. Risk MI includes information from across the risk classes defined in the risk management framework and reflect the use of
the various risk tools used to identify and assess those risks. The Risk Management Division is responsible for implementing appropriate
controls over data integrity for risk MI.

Management of Financial Resources

Nomura has established a framework for management of financial resources in order to adequately manage utilization of these resources. The
EMB allocates financial resources to business units at the beginning of each financial year. These allocations are used to set revenue forecasts
for each business units. Key components are set out below:

Risk-weighted Assets

The EMB determines a minimum target Tier 1 capital ratio on an annual basis. A key component used in the calculation of the ratio is
consolidated risk-weighted assets which are allocated by the EMB to each division and to additional lower levels of the organization. See
Item 4.B. Business Overview Regulatory Capital Rules of our annual report on Form 20-F for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014 and

Consolidated Regulatory Capital Requirements of this report for further information on our consolidated capital adequacy ratios and
risk-weighted assets.

Economic Capital

Nomura s internal measure of the capital required to support its business is the Nomura Capital Allocation Target ( NCAT ), which is measured as
the amount of capital required to absorb unexpected losses over a one-year time horizon under a severely adverse scenario. For quantification
purposes, a severely adverse scenario is defined as the unexpected loss computed by risk models at the 99.95th percentile. NCAT consists of i)
portfolio NCAT, which captures the risks directly impacting the value of specific positions such as market risk, credit risk, asset liquidity risk

and other risks such as event risk to account for portfolio risks not easily covered in a historically calibrated model, and ii) non-portfolio NCAT,
which captures the risks not directly affecting the value of specific positions, such as operational risk and business risk. Nomura s NCAT limit is
initially set by the EMB, and the EMB subsequently allocates it to each business division and additional lower levels of the organization.
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Available Funds

The CFO decides the maximum amount of available funds, provided without posting of any collateral, for allocation within Nomura and the
EMB approves the allocation of the funds to each business division. Global Treasury monitors the usage by businesses and reports to the EMB.
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Classification and Definition of Risk

Nomura classifies and defines risks as follows and has established departments or units to manage each risk type.

Risk Category Definition
Market risk Risk of loss arising from fluctuations in the value of financial assets and liabilities (including off-balance sheet items)
due to fluctuations in market risk factors (interest rates, foreign exchange rates, prices of securities and others).

Credit risk Risk of loss arising from an obligor or counterparty s default, insolvency or administrative proceeding which results in
the obligor s failure to meet its contractual obligations in accordance with agreed terms. This includes both on and
off-balance sheet exposures. It is also the risk of loss arising through a credit valuation adjustment ( CVA ) associated
with deterioration in the creditworthiness of a counterparty.

Operational risk Risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from external events. It
excludes strategic risk (the risk of loss as a result of poor strategic business decisions), but includes the risk of breach
of legal and regulatory requirements, and the risk of damage to Nomura s reputation if caused by an operational risk.

Model risk Risk arising from model errors or incorrect or inappropriate model application, which can lead to financial loss, poor
business and strategic decision-making, restatement of external and internal reports, regulatory penalties and damage
to Nomura s reputation.

Funding and Risk of loss arising from difficulty in securing necessary funding or from a significantly higher cost of funding than
Liquidity risk normal levels due to a deterioration in Nomura s creditworthiness or a deterioration in market conditions.
Business risk Risk of failure of revenues to cover costs due to a deterioration in the earnings environment or a deterioration in the

efficiency or effectiveness of Nomura s business operations. Managing business risk is the responsibility of Nomura s
Executive Managing Directors and Senior Managing Directors.

Market Risk Management

Market risk is the risk of loss arising from fluctuations in the value of financial assets and liabilities (including off-balance sheet items) due to
fluctuations in market risk factors (interest rates, foreign exchange rates, prices of securities and others).

Market Risk Management Process

Effective management of market risk requires the ability to analyze a complex and constantly changing global market environment, identify
problematic trends and ensure that appropriate action is taken in a timely manner.

Nomura uses a variety of complementary tools to measure, model and aggregate market risk. Nomura s principal statistical measurement tool to
assess and monitor market risk on an ongoing basis is Value at Risk ( VaR ). Limits on VaR are set in line with Nomura s risk appetite as
expressed through economic capital. In addition to VaR, Nomura uses sensitivity analysis and stress testing to measure and analyze its market
risk. Sensitivities are measures used to show the potential changes to a portfolio due to standard moves in market risk factors. They are specific
to each asset class and cannot usually be aggregated across risk factors. Stress testing enables the analysis of portfolio risks or tail risks,
including non-linear behaviors and can be aggregated across risk factors at any level of the group hierarchy, from firmwide level to business
division, units or desk levels. Market risk is monitored against a set of approved limits, with daily reports and other management information
provided to the business units and senior management.

Value at Risk

VaR is a measure of the potential loss in the value of Nomura s trading positions due to adverse movements in markets over a defined time
horizon with a specified confidence level. Market risks that are incorporated in the VaR model include equity prices, interest rates, credit,
foreign exchange rates, and commodities with associated volatilities and correlations.
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VaR Methodology Assumptions

Nomura uses a single VaR model which has been implemented globally in order to determine the total trading VaR for Nomura. Nomura s VaR
methodology uses historical simulation to estimate potential profit or loss. Historical market moves are repeatedly applied to current exposure,
forming a distribution of simulated portfolio returns. From this distribution, potential losses can be estimated at required confidence levels or
probabilities.

Nomura uses the same VaR model for both internal risk management purposes and for regulatory reporting of consolidated VaR to the FSA. For
internal risk management purposes, VaR is calculated across Nomura at a 99% confidence level and using a 1-day time horizon. For regulatory
reporting purposes, Nomura uses the same confidence level but a 10-day time horizon, calculated using actual 10-day historical market moves.

The VaR model uses a default historical time window of two years (520 business days). Nomura uses a weighted VaR, whereby for the
calculation of VaR, the probability weight assigned to each measure of estimated profit or loss in the historical simulation scenarios depends on
when it occurred. The older the observation, the lower the weight.

In addition, Nomura calculates other measures used to complement VaR under Basel 2.5 regulations. One of these, Stressed-VaR ( SVaR ) is
calibrated using a one-year window during a period of financial stress. The SVaR calculation uses one year of market data from that period of

financial stress. The one-year window is calibrated to be the one with the largest SVaR, given Nomura s current portfolio. The historical data

used for SVaR is not weighted. All VaR and SVaR numbers are calculated within the same system using equivalent model assumptions.

Nomura s VaR model uses time series for each individual underlying, whenever available. Whenever a time series cannot be found for a specific
underlying, the VaR model will follow a proxy logic to map the exposure to an appropriate time series (for example, this would be the case for
an option on a recently issued stock). The level of proxying taking place in the VaR model is carefully monitored through internal risk
management processes and there is a continual effort to source new time series to use in the VaR calculation.

VaR Backtesting

The performance of Nomura s VaR model is constantly monitored to ensure that it remains fit for purpose. The main approach for validating
VaR is to compare actual 1-day trading losses with the corresponding VaR estimate. Using a 99% VaR measure, 2 or 3 exceptions (i.e., loss is
larger than VaR) may be expected to occur each year. Nomura s VaR model is backtested at a Nomura group level as well as at a number of

lower levels, and backtesting results are reviewed on a monthly basis by Nomura s Risk Management Division.

1-day trading losses did not exceed the 99% VaR estimate at a Nomura group level for the six month ended September 30, 2014.
Limitations and Advantages of VaR

The main advantage of VaR as a risk measure is that it is able to aggregate risk from different asset classes in contrast with other risk measures
sensitivities that cannot be easily aggregated directly. The risk from different divisions of Nomura can therefore easily be compared and
aggregated using VaR.

As a risk measure, however, VaR has certain limitations. One of the main disadvantages with VaR is that it is a backward-looking risk measure.
Using historical market moves to estimate future profits or losses assumes that only events that have actually happened in the past are relevant to
analyze the risk of a portfolio.

In addition, VaR only gives an estimate of the loss at a stated 99% confidence level (i.e., in one out of 100 days the loss will be greater than
1-day VaR), but not what the magnitude of loss could be whenever the loss does exceed VaR.

VaR as a risk measure is most appropriate for liquid markets and may understate the financial impact of severe events for which there is no
historical precedent or where market liquidity may not be reliable. In particular, historical correlations can break down in extreme markets
leading to unexpected relative market moves. This may make positions that offset each other in VaR modeling move in the same direction thus
increasing losses.
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Given the limitations of the VaR model, Nomura uses VaR only as one component of a diverse market risk management process. Other metrics
to supplement VaR include stress testing and sensitivity analysis.

VaR metrics

The following graph shows the daily VaR over the last six quarters for substantially all of Nomura s trading positions:

The following tables show the VaR as of each of the dates indicated for substantially all of Nomura s trading positions:

Billions of yen

As of
Mar. 29, Mar. 31, Sep. 30,
2013 2014 2014
Equity ¥ 1.26 ¥ 1.28 ¥ 1.50
Interest rate 5.00 3.95 4.25
Foreign exchange 1.87 2.79 2.70
Subtotal 8.14 8.02 8.45
Less: Diversification Benefit (3.05) (2.86) (1.62)
VaR ¥ 5.09 ¥ 5.16 ¥ 6.83

Billions of yen

For the twelve For the six
months ended months ended
Mar. 29, Mar. 31, Sep. 30,
2013 2014 2014
Maximum daily VaR(®" ¥ 8.66 ¥ 990 ¥ 9.84
Average daily VaR™) 6.11 6.67 6.92
Minimum daily VaR® 4.33 4.45 4.47

(1) Represents the maximum, average and minimum VaR based on all daily calculations for the twelve months ended March 29, 2013 and
March 31, 2014, and for the six months ended September 30, 2014.

Total VaR increased to ¥6.83 billion as of September 30, 2014 from ¥5.16 billion as of March 31, 2014. VaR relating to interest rate risk

increased to ¥4.25 billion as of September 30, 2014, compared to ¥3.95 billion as of March 31, 2014. VaR relating to equity risk increased to

¥1.50 billion as of September 30, 2014, compared to ¥1.28 billion as of March 31, 2014. VaR relating to foreign exchange risk remained

relatively unchanged at ¥2.70 billion as of September 30, 2014, compared to ¥2.79 billion as of March 31, 2014.
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Total VaR remained relatively unchanged at ¥5.16 billion as of March 31, 2014 compared to total VaR as of March 29, 2013. VaR relating to
interest rate risk decreased to ¥3.95 billion as of March 31, 2014, compared to ¥5.00 billion as of March 29, 2013 due to lower outright interest
risk being taken. VaR relating to foreign exchange risk increased to ¥2.79 billion as of March 31, 2014 from ¥1.87 billion as of March 29, 2013,
driven by changes in the outright foreign exchange risk being taken. VaR relating to equity risk remained relatively unchanged at ¥1.28 billion
as of March 31, 2014 compared to ¥1.26 billion as of March 29, 2013.

Stress Testing

Nomura conducts market risk stress testing since VaR and sensitivity analysis have limited ability to capture all portfolio risks or tail risks.
Stress testing for market risk is conducted daily and weekly, using various scenarios based upon features of trading strategies. Nomura conducts
stress testing not only at each desk level, but also at a Nomura group level with a set of common global scenarios in order to capture the impact
of market fluctuations on the entire Nomura group.

Non-Trading Risk

A major market risk in Nomura s non-trading portfolio relates to equity investments held for operating purposes and on a long-term basis. This
non-trading portfolio is exposed mainly to volatility in the Japanese stock market. One method that can estimate the market risk in this portfolio
is to analyze market sensitivity based on changes in the TOPIX, which is a leading index of prices of stocks on the First Section of the Tokyo
Stock Exchange.

Nomura uses regression analysis covering the previous 90 days which tracks and compares fluctuations in the TOPIX and the market value of
Nomura s equity investments held for operating purposes. This analysis indicates that for each 10% change in the TOPIX, the market value of
Nomura s operating equity investments held for operating purposes can be expected to change by ¥19,721 million at the end of March 2014 and
¥19,760 million at the end of September 2014. The TOPIX closed at 1,202.89 points at the end of March 2014 and at 1,326.29 points at the end
of September 2014. This simulation analyzes data for the entire portfolio of equity investments held for operating purposes at Nomura and
therefore actual results may differ from Nomura s expectations because of price fluctuations of individual equities.

Credit Risk Management

Credit risk is the risk of loss arising from an obligor or counterparty s default, insolvency or administrative proceeding which results in the
obligor s failure to meet its contractual obligations in accordance with agreed terms. This includes both on and off-balance sheet exposures. It is
also the risk of loss arising through a CVA associated with deterioration in the creditworthiness of a counterparty.

Nomura manages credit risk on a global basis and on an individual Nomura legal entity basis.
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Credit Risk Management Framework

The measurement, monitoring and management of credit risk at Nomura is governed by a set of global policies and procedures. Credit Risk
Management ( CRM ), a global function within the Risk Management Division, is responsible for the implementation and maintenance of these
policies and procedures. These policies are authorized by the GIRMC and/or Global Risk Strategic Committee ( GRSC ), prescribe the basic
principles of credit risk management and set credit limits to counterparties that are formally approved by CRM personnel with the appropriate
level of credit authority.

Credit risk is managed by CRM together with various global and regional risk committees. This ensures transparency of material credit risks and
compliance with established credit limits, the approval of material extensions of credit and the escalation of risk concentrations to appropriate
senior management.

Credit Risk Management Process

CRM operates as a credit risk control function within the Risk Management Division, reporting to the CRO. The process for managing credit
risk at Nomura includes:

Evaluation of likelihood that a counterparty defaults on its payments and obligations;

Assignment of internal ratings to all active counterparties;

Approval of extensions of credit and establishment of credit limits;

Measurement, monitoring and management of Nomura s current and potential future credit exposures;

Setting credit terms in legal documentation including margin terms; and

Use of appropriate credit risk mitigants including netting, collateral and hedging.
The scope of credit risk management includes counterparty trading and various debt or equity instruments including loans, private equity
investments, fund investments, investment securities and any other as deemed necessary from a credit risk management perspective. The
evaluation of counterparties creditworthiness involves a thorough due diligence and analysis of the business environments in which they operate,
their competitive positions, management and financial strength and flexibility. Credit analysts also take into account the corporate structure and
any explicit or implicit credit support. CRM evaluates credit risk not only by counterparty, but also by counterparty group.

Following the credit analysis, CRM estimates the probability of default of a given counterparty or obligor through an alphanumeric ratings scale
similar to that used by rating agencies and a corresponding numeric scale. Credit analysts are responsible for assigning and maintaining the
internal ratings, ensuring that each rating is reviewed and approved at least annually.

Nomura s internal rating system employs a range of ratings models to ensure global consistency and accuracy. These models are developed and
maintained by the Risk Methodology Group. Internal ratings represent a critical component of Nomura s approach to managing counterparty
credit risk. They are used as key factors in:

Establishing the amount of counterparty credit risk that Nomura is willing to take to an individual counterparty or counterparty group
(setting of credit limits);
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Determining the level of delegated authority for setting credit limits (including tenor);

The frequency of credit reviews (renewal of credit limits);

Reporting counterparty credit risk to senior management within Nomura; and

Reporting counterparty credit risk to stakeholders outside of Nomura.
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The Credit Risk Control Unit ( CRCU ) is a function that is independent of CRM. It ensures that Nomura s internal rating system is properly
reviewed and validated, reporting any breaks or issues to senior management for timely resolution. The unit is responsible for ensuring that the
system remains accurate and predictive of risk and provides periodic reporting on the system to senior management.

Nomura has established an Internal Rating System to be a unified, exhaustive and objective framework to evaluate credit risk. Internal ratings
are typically classified into obligor, facility and specialized lending ratings. Each rating classification serves to properly express the credit risk
either in terms of probability of default, the level of potential recovery given its position in a capital structure or the probability of repayment
under the terms of a specialized lending facility.

For regulatory capital calculation purposes, Nomura has been applying the Foundation Internal Rating Based Approach ( FIRB ) in calculating
credit risk weighted assets since the end of March 2011. The Standardized Approach is applied to certain business units or asset types, which are
considered immaterial to the calculation of credit risk-weighted assets.

Credit Limits and Risk Measures

Internal ratings form an integral part in the assignment of credit limits to counterparties. Nomura s credit limit framework is designed to ensure
that Nomura takes appropriate credit risk in a manner that is consistent with its overall risk appetite. Global Credit policies define the delegated
authority matrices that establish the maximum aggregated limit amounts and tenors that may be set for any single counterparty group based on
their internal rating.

Nomura s main type of counterparty credit risk exposures arise from derivatives transactions or securities financing transactions. Credit
exposures against counterparties are managed by means of setting credit limits based upon credit analysis of individual counterparty. Credit risk
is managed daily through the monitoring of credit exposure against approved credit limits and the ongoing monitoring of the creditworthiness of
Nomura s counterparties. Any change in circumstance that alters Nomura s risk appetite for any particular counterparty, sector, industry or
country is reflected in changes to the internal rating and credit limit as appropriate.

Nomura s global credit risk management systems record all credit limits and capture credit exposures to the Nomura s counterparties allowing
CRM to measure, monitor and manage utilization of credit limits, ensure appropriate reporting and escalation of any limit breaches.

For derivatives and securities financing transactions, Nomura measures credit risk primarily by way of a Monte Carlo-based simulation model
that determines a Potential Exposure ( PE ) profile at a specified confidence level. The exposure calculation model used for counterparty credit
risk management has also been used for the Internal Model Method ( IMM ) based exposure calculation for regulatory capital reporting purposes
since the end of December 2012.

Loans and lending commitments are measured and monitored on both a funded and unfunded basis.

Wrong Way Risk

Wrong Way Risk ( WWR ) occurs when exposure to a counterparty is highly correlated with the deterioration of creditworthiness of that
counterparty. Nomura has established global policies that govern the management of any WWR exposures. Stress testing is used to support the
assessment of any WWR embedded within existing portfolios and adjustments are made to credit exposures and regulatory capital, as
appropriate.

Stress Testing

Stress Testing is an integral part of Nomura s management of credit risk. Regular stress tests are used to support the assessment of credit risks by
counterparties, sectors and regions. The stress tests include potential concentrations that are highlighted as a result of applying shocks to risk
factors, probabilities of default or rating migrations.

Risk Mitigation

Nomura utilizes financial instruments, agreements and practices to assist in the management of credit risk. Nomura enters into legal agreements,
such as the International Swap and Derivatives Association, Inc. ( ISDA ) agreements or equivalent (referred to as Master Netting Agreements ),
with many of its counterparties. Master Netting Agreements allow netting of receivables and payables and reduce losses potentially incurred as a
result of a counterparty default. Further reduction in credit risk is achieved through entering into collateral agreements that allow Nomura to
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obtain collateral from counterparties either upfront or contingent on exposure levels, changes in credit rating or other factors.
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Credit Risk to Counterparties in Derivatives Transaction

The credit exposures arising from Nomura s trading-related derivatives as of March 31, 2014 are summarized in the table below, showing the
positive fair value of derivative assets by counterparty credit rating and by remaining contractual maturity. The credit ratings are internally
determined by Nomura s CRM.

Billions of yen

Years to Maturity
Less than 1to3 3to5S S5to7 More than Cross-Maturity Total Collateral Replacement
Credit Rating 1 year years years years 7 years Netting(® Fair Value obtained cost®
(a) (b) (a)-(b)
AAA ¥ 13 ¥ 32 ¥ 69 ¥ 23 ¥ 66 ¥ B7) ¥ 146 ¥ 48 ¥ 98
AA 125 286 375 323 675 (1,342) 442 27 415
A 512 452 548 397 949 (2,205) 653 142 511
BBB 165 155 164 120 408 (629) 383 136 247
BB and lower 21 41 38 76 299 (255) 220 279 0
Other®” 28 16 31 11 77 (160) 3 23 0
Sub-total 864 982 1,225 950 2,474 (4,648) 1,847 655 1,271
Listed 525 160 30 1 (258) 458 1 457
Total ¥1,389 ¥1,142 ¥1,255 ¥951 ¥ 2474 ¥ (4906) ¥ 2305 ¥ 656 ¥ 1,728

(1) Represents netting of derivative liabilities against derivatives assets entered into with the same counterparty across different maturity
bands. Derivative assets and derivative liabilities with the same counterparty in the same maturity band are net within the relevant maturity
band. Cash collateral netting against net derivative assets in accordance with ASC 210-20 Balance Sheet Offsetting and ASC 815

Derivatives and Hedging is also included.
2) Other comprises unrated counterparties and certain portfolio level valuation adjustments not allocated to specific counterparties
(3) Zero balances represent where total collateral received is in excess of the total fair value therefore Nomura s credit exposure is zero.

Exposure to certain European peripheral countries

Nomura manages country risk arising from inventory positions, trades with counterparties and any other businesses or products as deemed
necessary. A number of European countries have experienced a higher degree of financial stress over the last few years. While this stress has the
potential to impact both European and global markets, its impact has been more pronounced in several peripheral countries within the
Euro-zone, such as Greece, Ireland, Italy, Portugal and Spain (the GIIPS countries ) due, primarily, to their economic and fiscal weaknesses.

Financial, economic and structural issues in the GIIPS countries have adversely influenced major global financial markets. Further stress in these
countries combined with a sustained market or economic downturn could adversely affect Nomura s business and could result in substantial
future losses.
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The table below presents information regarding Nomura s exposure to the GIIPS countries as of September 30, 2014. Country risk exposure is
reported based on the location of the counterparty, issuer or underlier s assets.

Greece
Sovereign
Non-sovereign®

Ireland
Sovereign
Non-sovereign®

Italy
Sovereign
Non-sovereign®

Portugal
Sovereign
Non-sovereign®

Spain
Sovereign
Non-sovereign®

Total
Sovereign
Non-sovereign®

Table of Contents

Billions of yen

September 30, 2014
Net inventory exposures Net counterparty exposures
Equity and
credit Derivative
derivatives contracts Total
referencing with Securities  gross Total Total
Debt  Equity GIIPS GIIPS financing funded Unfunded gross Less: net
securitiesdecurities@inderlyingsX.oanstbunterpartiestfinsactions(@xposureexposureVexposure Hedges® exposure
¥ 9 ¥ 0 ¥ 6) ¥ ¥ 8 ¥ 1 ¥ 13 ¥ ¥ 13 ¥ 4 ¥ 8
0) 3) 6 3 3 4 (1)
10 0 3) 2 1 9 9 0 9
40 0 10 0 0 51 52 0 51
13 6 0 0 20 20 0 19
27 0 4 0 0 31 32 0 32
99 13 (123) 40 3 33 33 31 2
84 (146) 26 (36) (36) 30 (66)
15 13 23 14 3 69 69 1 68
27 0) 4) 0 0 22 22 1 21
15 ) 7 7 1 6
11 0) 5 0 0 15 15 1 15
176 ?2) (136) 2 16 6 62 62 13 50
78 (56) 7 29 29 8 20
98 2) (80) 2 9 6 34 34 4 30
¥351 ¥ 12 ¥ (259 ¥2 ¥ 64 ¥ 11 ¥ 181 ¥ ¥ 182 ¥ 50 ¥ 132
191 (208) 39 0 22 22 44 (22)
161 12 (51 2 25 11 159 160 6 154
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Fair value amounts of long and short debt securities by GIIPS issuers. No GIIPS collateral has been used in repurchase-to-maturity
transactions outstanding as of September 30, 2014.

Fair value amounts of long and short equity securities by GIIPS issuers.

Net derivatives entered into for market-making and trading purposes which reference GIIPS underlyings and includes both single-name
credit default swaps ( CDS ) and other credit derivatives referencing baskets of reference assets, indices or other multiple underlyings.
Amounts disclosed are calculated based on notional amounts of the derivatives assuming zero recovery as adjusted for fair value
movements.

Where derivative contracts cover multiple underlyings, including one or more GIIPS countries or both sovereign and non-sovereign underlyings
in these countries, the relevant derivatives are disaggregated into their constituent single names for reporting in the table. Exposure for each
single name is calculated as the change in mark to market of the product, based on an internally developed model, given the instantaneous
default of the relevant reference credit and assuming zero recovery. No specific assumptions are made regarding the order of defaults or
collateral coverage.

“
&)

Q)

@)
®)

®

Fair value amounts of loans to GIIPS counterparties.

Derivatives with GIIPS counterparties which are shown net by counterparty and after deduction of cash collateral received of ¥455.8
billion.

Fair value amounts of reverse repurchase agreements, repurchase agreements, securities borrowing and lending transactions, which are
shown net by counterparty and after deduction of securities collateral and cash margin received of ¥424.9 billion.

Notional amount of unfunded loan commitments with GIIPS borrowers.

Hedges consist primarily of single-name CDS where Nomura has purchased net protection against GIIPS net counterparty credit
exposures. Amounts disclosed are calculated based on notional amounts assuming zero recovery as adjusted for fair value movements.
Non-sovereign counterparties are primarily financial institutions located in these countries.
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Amounts reported in net inventory exposures and hedges include single-name CDS where Nomura has either purchased or sold credit protection
on a single name GIIPS underlying. The following table presents the gross notional value and fair value of these derivatives by relevant GIIPS
country and by type of underlying.

Billions of yen
September 30, 2014

Purchased
protection Sold protection
Notional Fair Notional Fair
value value value value
Greece
Sovereign ¥ ¥ ¥ ¥
Non-sovereign 35 2) 36 2
35 2) 36 2
Ireland
Sovereign 170 3) 180 3
Non-sovereign 81 (®)) 86 6
252 ()] 266 9
Italy
Sovereign 2,330 35 2,290 (28)
Non-sovereign 575 (23) 586 26
2,905 12 2,877 2)
Portugal
Sovereign 244 2 234 )
Non-sovereign 146 (®) 149 6
390 “4) 383 4
Spain
Sovereign 1,109 (14) 1,291 19
Non-sovereign 378 17) 411 18
1,488 (31) 1,702 37
Total
Sovereign 3,853 19 3,995 )
Non-sovereign 1,215 (53) 1,269 58

¥5,068 ¥(33) ¥5264 ¥ 50

These notional and fair value amounts are not representative of Nomura s overall exposure as they exclude the impact of master netting
agreements and collateralization arrangements in place with the counterparties to these transactions. See Note 3  Derivative instruments and
hedging activities in our interim consolidated financial statements for more information around the nature of Nomura s credit derivative
activities, including the nature of payout or trigger events under these contracts.

In addition to the above direct exposures to these countries, Nomura also has indirect exposures to these countries as follows:
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Exposure to other European sovereign and non-sovereign counterparties such as counterparties in France, Germany and the UK who
themselves may have exposures to these countries. These exposures are monitored and mitigated when necessary as part of Nomura s
Credit Risk Management procedures.

Exposure to redenomination risk if the Euro is no longer used as the currency unit in one or more GIIPS or other Eurozone countries.
Nomura monitors and manages redenomination risk through scenario analyses which quantify the potential impact on its GIIPS
exposures.

Additional exposure to replacement risk arising from financial instruments entered into with GIIPS counterparties. Nomura manages
and mitigates replacement risk relating to GIIPS counterparties by monitoring exposures on selected counterparties believed to
represent the most significant risk, identifying major concentration of risks in order to reduce exposures when possible and being
prepared to put in place a pre-emptive plan of action if such an event occurs.
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Operational Risk Management

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people, and systems or from external events. It excludes
strategic risk (the risk of loss as a result of poor strategic business decisions), but includes the risk of breach of legal and regulatory
requirements, and the risk of damage to Nomura s reputation if caused by an operational risk.

The Three Lines of Defence

Nomura adopts the industry standard Three Lines of Defence for the management of operational risk, comprising the following elements:

1)  1stLine of Defence: The business which owns and manages its risks

2)  2nd Line of Defence: The Operational Risk Management ( ORM ) function, which defines and co-ordinates Nomura s operational risk
strategy and framework and provides challenge to the 1st Line of Defence

3)  3rd Line of Defence: Internal and External Audit, who provide independent assurance

Operational Risk Management Framework

An Operational Risk Management Framework has been established in order to allow Nomura to identify, assess, manage, monitor and report on
operational risk. The GIRMC, with delegated authority from the EMB has formal oversight over the management of operational risk.
Operational risk appetite is defined through a mixture of qualitative appetite statements and quantitative measures utilizing key components of
the Operational Risk Management Framework.

This framework is set out below:

Infrastructure of the framework

Policy framework: Sets standards for managing operational risk and details how to monitor adherence to these standards.

Training and awareness: Action taken by ORM to improve business understanding of operational risk.
Products and Services

Risk and Control Self-Assessment ( RCSA ): The process used by business units to identify and assess the operational risks to which
they are exposed, the controls in place to mitigate risks, and action plans to further reduce risk.

Scenario Analysis: Process to identify and assess high impact, low probability tail events .

Event Reporting: Process to obtain information on and learn from actual events impacting Nomura and relevant external events. A
key step is to identify appropriate action plans to prevent or mitigate future occurrence of events.
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Key Risk Indicators ( KRI ): Metrics which allow monitoring of certain key operational risks and trigger appropriate responses as
thresholds are breached.
Outputs

Analysis and reporting: A key aspect of ORM s role is to analyze, report, and challenge operational risk information provided by
business units, and work with business units to develop action plans to mitigate risks.

Operational risk capital calculation: Calculate operational risk capital for regulatory reporting purposes and allocate to business units
to improve the efficiency on profit versus risks.

4
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Regulatory capital calculation for operational risk

Nomura uses The Standardized Approach for calculating regulatory capital for operational risk. This involves using a three-year average of gross
income allocated to business lines, which is multiplied by a fixed percentage ( Beta Factor ) determined by the FSA, to establish the amount of
required operational risk capital.

Nomura uses consolidated net revenue as gross income, however for certain consolidated subsidiaries, gross operating profit is used as gross
income. Gross income allocation is performed by mapping the net revenue of each business segment as defined in Nomura s management
accounting data to each Basel business line as follows:

Business Line Description Beta Factor

Retail Banking Retail deposit and loan-related services 12%
Commercial Banking Deposit and loan-related services except for Retail Banking business 15%
Payment and Settlement Payment and settlement services for clients transactions 18%
Retail Brokerage Securities-related services mainly for individuals 12%
Trading and Sales Market-related business 18%
Corporate Finance M&A, underwriting, secondary and private offerings, and other funding services for clients 18%
Agency Services Agency services for clients such as custody 15%
Asset Management Fund management services for clients 12%

Nomura calculates the required amount of operational risk capital for each business line by multiplying the allocated annual gross income
amount by the appropriate Beta Factor defined above. The operational risk capital for any gross income amount not allocated to a specific
business line is determined by multiplying such unallocated gross income amount by a fixed percentage of 18%.

The total operational risk capital for Nomura is calculated by aggregating the total amount of operational risk capital required for each business
line and unallocated amount and by determining a three-year average. Where the aggregated amount for a given year is negative, then the total
operational risk capital amount for that year will be calculated as zero.

In any given year, negative amounts in any business line are offset against positive amounts in other business lines. However, negative
unallocated amounts are not offset against positive amounts in other business lines and are calculated as zero.

Operational risk capital is calculated at the end of September and March each year.

Model Risk Management

Model risk is the risk arising from model errors or incorrect or inappropriate model application, which can lead to financial loss, poor business
and strategic decision-making, restatement of external and internal reports, regulatory penalties and damage to Nomura s reputation.

Errors can occur at any point from model assumptions through to implementation. In addition, the quality of model outputs depends on the
quality of model parameters and any input data. Even a fundamentally sound model producing accurate outputs consistent with the design
objective of the model may exhibit high model risk if it is misapplied or misused.

Model Management Framework

The models within the model management framework are defined as either:

valuation models, used for calculating prices and risk sensitivities of Nomura s positions; or,

risk models, used by the Risk Management Division for quantifying the risk of a portfolio by calculating the potential losses incurred
from a specific type of risk, and used for regulatory or economic capital calculations, limit monitoring, trade approval and
management reporting.
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Before models are put into official use, the Model Validation Group ( MVG ) is responsible for validating their integrity and comprehensiveness
independently from those who design and build them. As part of this validation process, the MVG analyzes a number of factors to assess a

model s suitability, to quantify model risk which is then mitigated by applying model reserves and capital adjustments. Valuation models are
developed and maintained by the business units and risk models by the Risk Methodology Group ( RMG ) within the Risk Management Division.
Certain models may also be developed by third party providers. The RMG has primary responsibility for the ongoing refinement and

improvement of risk models and methodologies within Nomura.

All models are also subject to an annual re-approval process by MVG to ensure they remain suitable. Upon delegation from the GRMC, the
MRAC s and GRAC s primary responsibility is to govern and provide oversight of model management for valuation and risk models,
respectively.

Changes to valuation and risk models

Nomura has documented policies and procedures in place, approved by the GIRMC and/or GRSC, which define the process and validation
requirements for implementing changes to valuation and risk models. For changes with an impact above certain materiality thresholds, model
approval is required. These materiality thresholds are defined through procedures owned by MVG and reflect Nomura s model risk appetite. For
certain material changes to risk models, backtesting of the new model, parallel running of both models and stress-testing of the new model are
required prior to the model being approved.

Funding and Liquidity Risk Management

For further information on funding and liquidity risk management, see Liquidity and Capital Resources Funding and Liquidity Management in
this report.

Risk Measures and Controls

Limit Frameworks

The establishment of robust limit monitoring and management is central to appropriate monitoring and management of risk. The limit
management frameworks incorporate clear escalation policies to ensure approval of limits at appropriate levels of seniority. The Risk
Management Division is responsible for day-to-day operation of these limit frameworks including approval, monitoring, and reporting as
required. Business units are responsible for complying with the agreed limits. Limits apply across a range of quantitative measures of risk and
across market and credit risks.

New Business Risk Management

The new business approval process represents the starting point for new business in Nomura and exists to support management decision-making
and ensure that risks associated with new products and new businesses are identified and managed appropriately. The new business approval
process consists of two components:

1)  Transaction committees are in place to provide formal governance over the review and decision-making process for individual
transactions. Clear responsibilities are documented for cases of non-adherence.

2)  The new product approval process allows business unit sponsors to submit applications for new products and obtain input from
relevant departments prior to approval of the application. The process is designed to capture and assess risks across all risk classes as
a result of the new product or business.

Stress Testing
Stress testing is a process of assessing the stability or business continuity of Nomura from the view point of capital adequacy, profit and loss

impact or liquidity adequacy using plausible scenarios at various levels of the hierarchy from firmwide level to division or desk levels, including
those based on sensitivity analysis.

Table of Contents 68



Table of Contents

Edgar Filing: NOMURA HOLDINGS INC - Form 6-K

44

69



Edgar Filing: NOMURA HOLDINGS INC - Form 6-K

Table of Conten

Nomura conducts a rigorous programme of stress testing through a comprehensive suite of top-down and bottom-up scenarios, covering
different time horizons, severities, scope and methodologies and these are reviewed, run and presented on a regular basis to senior management,
who can then take appropriate actions.

Stress testing is categorised either as sensitivity analysis, scenario analysis, firmwide stress testing or reverse stress testing.

Sensitivity analysis is used to quantify the impact of a market move in one or two associated risk factors across all positions (e.g.,
equity prices or equity prices/equity volatility) using a variety of defined market shocks in order to assess specific risks or potential
concentrations;

Scenario analysis is used to quantify the impact of a specified event on Nomura s portfolio, combining simultaneous cross- asset
market shocks;

Firmwide stress testing is applied consistently across risk classes, such as market, credit, operational, business and liquidity risks. It
is used to assess Nomura s capital adequacy under severe market scenarios; and

Reverse stress testing is designed to identify a range of adverse circumstances which could cause Nomura s business plan to become
unviable. Such tests would stress Nomura s exposures or business models in an extreme fashion until the point of capital failure,
liquidity failure or business closure.
Stress tests are run on a regular basis as part of Nomura s routine risk management process and on an ad hoc basis in response to market events or
concerns. Stress testing is regarded as an integral part of Nomura s risk management governance and used as a tool for forward-looking risk
management and decision-making.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets (UNAUDITED)

ASSETS
Cash and cash deposits:
Cash and cash equivalents
Time deposits
Deposits with stock exchanges and other segregated cash

Total cash and cash deposits

Loans and receivables:

Loans receivable (including ¥303,956 million and ¥282,822 million measured at fair value by
applying the fair value option as of March 31, 2014 and September 30, 2014, respectively)
Receivables from customers (including ¥2,180 million and ¥2,248 million measured at fair value
by applying the fair value option as of March 31, 2014 and September 30, 2014, respectively)
Receivables from other than customers

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Total loans and receivables

Collateralized agreements:

Securities purchased under agreements to resell (including ¥1,087,138 million and

¥984,385 million measured at fair value by applying the fair value option as of March 31, 2014 and
September 30, 2014, respectively)

Securities borrowed

Total collateralized agreements

Trading assets and private equity investments:

Trading assets (including securities pledged as collateral of ¥9,266,192 million and

¥10,673,083 million as of March 31, 2014 and September 30, 2014, respectively; including
¥9,156 million and ¥11,684 million measured at fair value by applying the fair value option as of
March 31, 2014 and September 30, 2014, respectively)

Private equity investments (including ¥3,476 million and ¥5,716 million measured at fair value by
applying the fair value option as of March 31, 2014 and September 30, 2014, respectively)

Total trading assets and private equity investments

Other assets:

Office buildings, land, equipment and facilities (net of accumulated depreciation and amortization
of ¥350,820 million as of March 31, 2014 and ¥369,320 million as of September 30, 2014)
Non-trading debt securities

Investments in equity securities

Investments in and advances to affiliated companies

Other (including ¥56,976 million and ¥67,644 million measured at fair value by applying the fair
value option as of March 31, 2014 and September 30, 2014, respectively)

Total other assets

Table of Contents

Millions of yen
March 31, 2014

¥ 1,489,792
363,682
335,836

2,189,310

1,327,875
64,070

1,181,742
(3,009)

2,570,678

9,617,675
7,729,326

17,347,001

18,672,318

41,996

18,714,314

408,917
1,023,746
136,740
345,434

784,174

2,699,011

September 30, 2014

¥

1,439,786
224,992
405,134

2,069,912

1,357,346
67,002

1,266,421
(2,754)

2,688,015

8,299,801
8,080,883

16,380,684

20,009,976

44,723

20,054,699

413,385
967,293
141,508
349,528

737,070

2,608,784
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Consolidated Balance Sheets (Continued) (UNAUDITED)

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Short-term borrowings (including ¥49,279 million and ¥39,638 million measured at fair value by
applying the fair value option as of March 31, 2014 and September 30, 2014, respectively)
Payables and deposits:
Payables to customers
Payables to other than customers
Deposits received at banks

Total payables and deposits

Collateralized financing:

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase (including ¥530,397 million and ¥535,816 million
measured at fair value by applying the fair value option as of March 31, 2014 and September 30,
2014, respectively)

Securities loaned

Other secured borrowings

Total collateralized financing
Trading liabilities

Other liabilities (including ¥1,123 million and ¥17,377 million measured at fair value by applying
the fair value option as of March 31, 2014 and September 30, 2014, respectively)

Long-term borrowings (including ¥1,984,986 million and ¥2,378,535 million measured at fair value

by applying the fair value option as of March 31, 2014 and September 30, 2014, respectively)
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Note 15)

Equity:

Nomura Holdings, Inc. ( NHI ) shareholders equity:

Common stock

No par value share;

Authorized 6,000,000,000 shares as of March 31, 2014 and September 30, 2014
Issued 3,822,562,601 shares as of March 31, 2014 and September 30, 2014
Outstanding 3,717,630,462 shares as of March 31, 2014 and 3,640,236,853 shares as of
September 30, 2014

Additional paid-in capital

Retained earnings

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Total NHI shareholders equity before treasury stock
Common stock held in treasury, at cost 104,932,139 shares as of March 31, 2014 and 182,325,748
shares as of September 30, 2014

Total NHI shareholders equity

Noncontrolling interests
Total equity

Total liabilities and equity
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Millions of yen

March 31, 2014

¥ 602,131
492,516

1,230,176
1,114,181

2,836,873

13,937,690
2,359,809
814,500
17,111,999
11,047,285
1,141,750

8,227,063

40,967,101

594,493
683,638
1,287,003
20,636
2,585,770
(72,090)
2,513,680

39,533
2,553,213

¥ 43,520,314

September 30, 2014

¥

609,481
651,914
1,246,609
1,056,216

2,954,739

13,878,397
2,629,628
739,014

17,247,039

10,882,727
1,080,878

8,412,012

41,186,876

594,493
683,112
1,335,236
70,533

2,683,374

(122,286)

2,561,088

54,130
2,615,218

43,802,094
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Consolidated Balance Sheets (Continued) (UNAUDITED)

The following table presents the classification of consolidated variable interest entities ( VIEs ) assets and liabilities included in the consolidated
balance sheets above. The assets of a consolidated VIE may only be used to settle obligations of that VIE. Creditors do not have any recourse to
Nomura beyond the assets held in the VIEs. See Note 6  Securitizations and Variable Interest Entities for further information.

Billions of yen

March 31, 2014 September 30, 2014
Cash and cash deposits ¥ 18 ¥ 21
Trading assets and private equity investments 751 897
Other assets 114 64
Total assets ¥ 883 ¥ 982
Trading liabilities ¥ 42 ¥ 27
Other liabilities 27 15
Borrowings 424 640
Total liabilities ¥493 ¥ 682

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Income (UNAUDITED)

Revenue:

Commissions

Fees from investment banking

Asset management and portfolio service fees
Net gain on trading

Gain on private equity investments

Interest and dividends

Gain on investments in equity securities
Other

Total revenue
Interest expense

Net revenue

Non-interest expenses:

Compensation and benefits

Commissions and floor brokerage
Information processing and communications
Occupancy and related depreciation
Business development expenses

Other

Total non-interest expenses

Income before income taxes
Income tax expense

Net income
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests

Net income attributable to NHI shareholders

Per share of common stock:

Basic

Net income attributable to NHI shareholders per share
Diluted

Net income attributable to NHI shareholders per share

Millions of yen
Six months ended September 30

2013 2014
¥ 263,247 ¥ 208,413
48,378 40,442
83,083 93,839
238,589 287,573
753 202
213,416 213,692
12,889 9,234
73,294 59,579
933,649 912,974
145,938 168,303
787,711 744,671
298,596 309,590
55,180 61,189
94,473 90,857
40,614 36,777
17,332 16,998
95,364 103,581
601,559 618,992
186,152 125,679
81,505 51,291
¥ 104,647 ¥ 74,388
641 1,656
¥ 104,006 ¥ 72,732

Yen

Six months ended September 30

2013 2014
¥ 28.07 ¥ 19.87
¥ 2720 ¥ 1934

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

F-5

77



Edgar Filing: NOMURA HOLDINGS INC - Form 6-K

Table of Conten

Consolidated Statements of Income (Continued) (UNAUDITED)

Millions of yen
Three months ended September 30
2013 2014
Revenue:
Commissions ¥ 105,613 ¥ 112,132
Fees from investment banking 22,984 20,620
Asset management and portfolio service fees 40,702 48,395
Net gain on trading 110,180 129,011
Gain on private equity investments 703 489
Interest and dividends 98,091 108,775
Gain on investments in equity securities 5,037 2,884
Other 45,069 28,514
Total revenue 428,379 450,820
Interest expense 71,989 76,987
Net revenue 356,390 373,833
Non-interest expenses:
Compensation and benefits 135,391 140,823
Commissions and floor brokerage 26,134 33,599
Information processing and communications 46,240 45,961
Occupancy and related depreciation 20,830 18,224
Business development expenses 9,473 9,071
Other 45,389 52,150
Total non-interest expenses 283,457 299,828
Income before income taxes 72,933 74,005
Income tax expense 34,549 20,894
Net income ¥ 38,384 ¥ 53,111
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 272 239
Net income attributable to NHI shareholders ¥ 38,112 ¥ 52872
Yen
Three months ended September 30
2013 2014

Per share of common stock:
Basic
Net income attributable to NHI shareholders per share ¥ 10.29 ¥ 14.53
Diluted
Net income attributable to NHI shareholders per share ¥ 9.99 ¥ 14.15

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (UNAUDITED)

Net income

Other comprehensive income:

Change in cumulative translation adjustments, net of tax
Defined benefit pension plans:

Pension liability adjustment

Deferred income taxes

Total

Non-trading securities:

Net unrealized gain on non-trading securities
Deferred income taxes

Total
Total other comprehensive income

Comprehensive income
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests

Comprehensive income attributable to NHI shareholders

Net income

Other comprehensive income (loss):

Change in cumulative translation adjustments, net of tax
Defined benefit pension plans:

Pension liability adjustment

Deferred income taxes

Total

Non-trading securities:

Net unrealized gain on non-trading securities
Deferred income taxes

Total
Total other comprehensive income (loss)

Comprehensive income
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests

Comprehensive income attributable to NHI shareholders

Millions of yen
Six months ended September 30
2013 2014
¥ 104,647 ¥ 74,388

27,431 46,285
2,005 374
(703) @211)
1,302 163
1,469 9,712
(645) (2,539)
824 7,173
29,557 53,621

¥ 134,204 ¥ 128,009
1,382 5,380

¥ 132,822 ¥ 122,629

Millions of yen
Three months ended September 30
2013 2014
¥ 38,384 ¥ 53,111

(5.542) 58,079
449 14
(171) (69)
278 (55)

4,471 6,312

(1,286) (2,017)

3,185 4,295

(2,079) 62,319

¥ 36,305 ¥ 115,430
962 3,574

¥ 35,343 ¥ 111,856

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (UNAUDITED)

Common stock
Balance at beginning of year

Balance at end of period

Additional paid-in capital

Balance at beginning of year

Gain (loss) on sales of treasury stock

Issuance and exercise of common stock options

Balance at end of period

Retained earnings

Balance at beginning of year

Net income attributable to NHI shareholders
Cash dividends)

Gain (loss) on sales of treasury stock

Balance at end of period

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Cumulative translation adjustments

Balance at beginning of year

Net change during the period

Balance at end of period

Defined benefit pension plans
Balance at beginning of year
Pension liability adjustment

Balance at end of period

Non-trading securities
Balance at beginning of year
Net unrealized gain on non-trading securities

Balance at end of period
Balance at end of period

Common stock held in treasury
Balance at beginning of year
Repurchases of common stock
Sales of common stock

Common stock issued to employees
Other net change in treasury stock
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Millions of yen
Six months ended September 30

2013

¥ 594,493

594,493

691,264
(5,439)
(3,777)

682,048

1,136,523
104,006
(29,652)

1,210,877

(38,875)
26,902

(11,973)

(28,518)
1,302

(27,216)

9,998
612

10,610

(28,579)

(70,514)

(32,493)
8
22,662
683

2014

594,493

594,493

683,638
(2,417)
1,891

683,112

1,287,003

72,732
(21,841)
(2,658)

1,335,236

27,704
44,378

72,082

(18,809)
163

(18,646)

11,741
5,356

17,097

70,533
(72,090)
(65,199)

4
14,999
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Balance at end of period
Total NHI shareholders equity
Balance at end of period

Noncontrolling interests

Balance at beginning of year

Cash dividends

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests

Accumulated other comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests
Purchase / sale of subsidiary shares, net

Other net change in noncontrolling interests

Balance at end of period

Total equity
Balance at end of period

(1) Dividends per share
Six months ended September 30, 2013

Six months ended September 30, 2014

(79,654) (122,286)
2,379,185 2,561,088

24,612 39,533
19) 19)
641 1,656
741 3,724

5,072
6,142 4,164
32,117 54,130

¥ 2,411,302 ¥ 2,615,218

Three months ended September 30,

¥ 8.00 2013 ¥ 8.00
Three months ended September 30,
¥ 6.00 2014 ¥ 6.00

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (UNAUDITED)

Millions of yen
Six months ended September 30

2013 2014
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income ¥ 104,647 ¥ 74,388
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 39,853 37,566
Gain on investments in equity securities (12,889) (9,234)
Deferred income taxes 9,523 19,918
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Time deposits 141,920 143,036
Deposits with stock exchanges and other segregated cash (106,007) (49,499)
Trading assets and private equity investments (803,462) (775,733)
Trading liabilities 1,131,663 (395,689)
Securities purchased under agreements to resell, net of securities sold under agreements to repurchase 224,006 907,217
Securities borrowed, net of securities loaned (232,396) (34,750)
Other secured borrowings 11,732 (75,485)
Loans and receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts (161,064) 9,322
Payables 347,701 150,424
Bonus accrual (37,128) (53,295)
Accrued income taxes, net (16,873) 16,987
Other, net (236,432) 66,521
Net cash provided by operating activities 404,794 31,694
Cash flows from investing activities:
Payments for purchases of office buildings, land, equipment and facilities (114,549) (72,612)
Proceeds from sales of office buildings, land, equipment and facilities 94,214 41,768
Payments for purchases of investments in equity securities (100) (102)
Proceeds from sales of investments in equity securities 2,304 4,735
Decrease (increase) in loans receivable at banks, net 3,918 (12,464)
Decrease (increase) in non-trading debt securities, net (88,042) 68,663
Other, net 4,146 (6,411)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (98,109) 23,577
Cash flows from financing activities:
Increase in long-term borrowings 1,112,884 1,211,301
Decrease in long-term borrowings (947,062) (1,188,488)
Increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings, net 59,590 (5,168)
Decrease in deposits received at banks, net (1,891) (53,645)
Proceeds from sales of common stock held in treasury 288 78
Payments for repurchases of common stock held in treasury (32,493) (65,199)
Payments for cash dividends (22,285) (33,469)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 169,031 (134,590)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 17,240 29,313
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 492,956 (50,006)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 805,087 1,489,792

Table of Contents 83



Edgar Filing: NOMURA HOLDINGS INC - Form 6-K

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period ¥ 1,298,043

Supplemental information:

Cash paid during the period for

Interest ¥ 154,025

Income tax payments, net ¥ 88,855
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Interim Consolidated Financial Statements (UNAUDITED)
1. Summary of accounting policies:

Description of business

Nomura Holdings, Inc. (the Company ) and its broker-dealer, banking and other financial services subsidiaries provide investment, financing and
related services to individual, institutional and government clients on a global basis. The Company and other entities in which it has a controlling
financial interest are collectively referred to as Nomura within these interim consolidated financial statements.

Nomura operates its business through various divisions based upon the nature of specific products and services, its main client base and its
management structure. Nomura reports operating results through three business segments: Retail, Asset Management and Wholesale.

In its Retail segment, Nomura provides investment consultation services mainly to individual clients in Japan. In its Asset Management segment,
Nomura develops and manages investment trusts, and provides investment advisory services. In its Wholesale segment, Nomura is engaged in
the sales and trading of debt and equity securities and currencies on a global basis to various institutions, provides investment banking services
such as the underwriting of bonds and equities as well as mergers and acquisitions and financial advice and invests in private equity businesses
and seeks to maximize returns on the investments by increasing the corporate value of investee companies.

The accounting and financial reporting policies of Nomura conform to U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ( U.S. GAAP ) as applicable
to broker dealers. A summary of the significant accounting policies applied by Nomura within these interim consolidated financial statements is
provided within in the notes to the consolidated financial statements of Nomura s annual report on Form 20-F for the year ended March 31, 2014
as filed on June 26, 2014.

New accounting pronouncements recently adopted

No new accounting pronouncements relevant to Nomura were adopted during the three months ended September 30, 2014.

The following new accounting pronouncements relevant to Nomura were adopted during the three months ended June 30, 2014:
Release of cumulative translation adjustment amounts

In March 2013, the FASB issued amendments to ASC 810-10 Consolidation Overall ( ASC 810-10 ) and ASC 830-30 Foreign Currency
Matters Translation of Financial Statements ( ASC 830-30 ) through issuance of ASU 2013-05 Parent s Accounting for the Cumulative
Translation Adjustment upon Derecognition of Certain Subsidiaries or Groups of Assets within a Foreign Entity or of an Investment in a

Foreign Entity (. ASU 2013-05 ). The amendments resolve diversity in practice about whether guidance in ASC 810-10 or ASC 830-30 applies
to the release of cumulative translation adjustment ( CTA ) amounts into earnings when a parent sells part or all of its investment in a foreign
entity (or no longer holds a controlling financial interest in a subsidiary).

ASU 2013-05 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2013 with early adoption
permitted.

Nomura adopted ASU 2013-05 from April 1, 2014 and these amendments did not have a material impact on these consolidated financial
statements.

Investment companies

In June 2013, the FASB issued amendments to ASC 946  Financial Services Investment Companies ( ASC 946 ) through issuance of ASU 2013-08
Amendments to the Scope, Measurement, and Disclosure Requirements ( ASU 2013-08 ). ASU 2013-08 modifies the guidance under ASC 946

for determining whether an entity is an investment company, which is an entity that is required to measure its investments at fair value, including

controlling financial interests in investees that are not investment companies. ASU 2013-08 also requires an investment company to measure

noncontrolling ownership interests in other investment companies at fair value rather than using the equity method of accounting, and requires

certain additional disclosures including information about financial support provided, or contractually required to be provided, by an investment

company to any of its investees.
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ASU 2013-08 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2013 with early adoption
prohibited.

Nomura adopted ASU 2013-08 from April 1, 2014 and these amendments did not have a material impact on these consolidated financial
statements.
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Future accounting developments
The following new accounting pronouncements relevant to Nomura will be adopted in future periods:
Reporting Discontinued Operations

In April 2014, the FASB issued amendments to ASC 205, Presentation of Financial Statements ( ASC 205 ) and ASC 360 Property, Plant and
Equipment ( ASC 360 ) through issuance of ASU 2014-08, Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disclosures of Disposals of Components of
an Entity, ( ASU 2014-08 ). ASU 2014-08 changes the criteria for discontinued operations reporting with the intention of less disposals qualifying
and also introduces new presentation and disclosure requirements.

ASU 2014-08 is effective prospectively for all disposals or expected disposals classified as held for sale that occur within annual periods
beginning on or after December 15, 2014 and interim periods within those years. Early adoption is permitted, but only for disposals or expected
disposals classified as held for sale that have not been reported in financial statements previously issued or available for issue.

Nomura currently plans to adopt ASU 2014-08 from April 1, 2015 and does not expect these amendments to have a material impact on these
consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASC 606 Revenue from Contracts with Customers ( ASC 606 ) as well as amendments to other pronouncements,
including ASC 350 [Intangibles Goodwill and Other , ASC 360 Property, Plant, and Equipment , and ASC 605-35 Revenue

Recognition Construction-Type and Production-Type Contracts through issuance of ASU 2014-09 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

( ASU 2014-09 ). ASU 2014-09 replaces existing revenue recognition guidance in ASC 605 Revenue Recognition , replaces certain other
industry-specific revenue recognition guidance, specifies the accounting for certain costs to obtain or fulfill a contract with a customer and

provides recognition and measurement guidance in relation to sales of non-financial assets. The core principle of ASU 2014-09 is to depict the
transfer of goods or services to customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for

those goods or services. It provides guidance on how to achieve this core principle, including how to identify contracts with customers and

separate performance obligations in the contract, how to determine and allocate the transaction price to such performance obligations and how to
recognize revenue when a performance obligation has been satisfied.

ASU 2014-09 is effective for annual reporting periods, and interim periods within those reporting periods, beginning after December 15, 2016
with early adoption prohibited.

Nomura will adopt ASU 2014-09 from April 1, 2017 and is currently evaluating the potential impact it may have on these consolidated financial
statements.

Repurchase agreements and similar transactions

In June 2014, the FASB issued amendments to ASC 860 Transfers and Servicing ( ASC 860 ) through issuance of ASU 2014-11

Repurchase-to-Maturity Transactions, Repurchase Financings, and Disclosures ( ASU 2014-11 ). These amendments change the accounting
for repurchase-to-maturity transactions which are repurchase agreements where the maturity of the security transferred as collateral matches the
maturity of the repurchase agreement. Under ASU 2014-11, all repurchase-to-maturity transactions will be accounted for as secured borrowing
transactions in the same way as other repurchase agreements rather than as sales of a financial asset and forward commitment to repurchase. The
amendments also change the accounting for repurchase financing arrangements which are transactions involving the transfer of a financial asset
to a counterparty executed contemporaneously with a reverse repurchase agreement with the same counterparty. Under ASU 2014-11, all
repurchase financings will now be accounted for separately, which will result in secured lending accounting for the reverse repurchase
agreement. ASU 2014-11 also introduces new disclosure requirements regarding repurchase agreements and securities lending transactions as
well as certain other transactions which involve the transfer of financial assets accounted for as sales and where the transferor retains
substantially all of the exposure to the economic return on the transferred assets.
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ASU 2014-11 is effective for interim or annual periods beginning after December 15, 2014 with early adoption prohibited. As of adoption date,
the accounting for all outstanding repurchase-to-maturity transactions and repurchase financing arrangements is adjusted by means of a
cumulative-effect adjustment to the balance sheet and retained earnings.

Nomura will adopt ASU 2014-11 from January 1, 2015 and is currently evaluating the potential impact it may have on these consolidated
financial statements.
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Stock compensation

In June 2014, the FASB issued amendments to ASC 718 Compensation Stock Compensation ( ASC 718 ) through issuance of ASU 2014-12

Accounting for Share-Based Payments When the Terms of an Award Provide That a Performance Target Could Be Achieved after the Requisite
Service Period ( ASU 2014-12 ). ASU 2014-12 requires a performance target that affects vesting and that could be achieved after the requisite
service period be accounted for as a performance condition based on the existing guidance in ASC 718 rather than as a nonvesting condition that
affects the grant-date fair value of the award.

ASU 2014-12 is effective for annual periods, and interim periods within those annual periods, beginning after December 15, 2015 with early
adoption permitted. ASU 2014-12 may be applied either by prospectively or retrospectively.

Nomura currently plans to adopt ASU 2014-12 from April 1, 2016 and does not expect these amendments to have a material impact on these
consolidated financial statements.

Measurement of the financial assets and the financial liabilities of collateralized financing entities

In August 2014, the FASB issued amendments to ASC 810 Consolidation ( ASC 810 ) through issuance of ASU 2014-13 Measuring the
Financial Assets and the Financial Liabilities of a Consolidated Collateralized Financing Entity ( ASU 2014-13 ). ASU 2014-13 provides an
alternative to ASC 820 Fair Value Measurements and disclosures ( ASC 820 ) for measuring the fair value of financial assets and the financial
liabilities of a consolidated c